

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE OIL OF DIFFERENT VARIETIES OF AVOCADO GROWN IN BRAZIL AND A NEW METHODOLOGY FOR EXTRA-VIRGIN AVOCADO OIL EXTRACTION

CARACTERIZAÇÃO, DO ÓLEO DE DIFERENTES VARIEDADES DE ABACATE CULTIVADOS NO BRASILE UMA NOVA METODOLOGIA PARA A EXTRAÇÃO DE ÓLEO DE ABACATE EXTRA VIRGEM

ZAENAB ALNASAN

TESE DE DOUTORADO EM AGRONOMIA

BRASÍLIA/DF FEVEREIRO/2019



CHARACTERISTICS OF THE OIL OF DIFFERENT VARIETIES OF AVOCADO GROWN IN BRAZIL AND A NEW METHODOLOGY FOR EXTRA-VIRGIN AVOCADO OIL EXTRACTION

CARACTERIZAÇÃO, DO ÓLEO DE DIFERENTES VARIEDADES DE ABACATE CULTIVADOS NO BRASILE UMA NOVA METODOLOGIA PARA A EXTRAÇÃO DE ÓLEO DE ABACATE EXTRA VIRGEM

ZAENAB ALNASAN

ORIENTADOR: OSVALDO KIYOSHI YAMANISHI

TESE DE DOUTORADO EM AGRONOMIA

PUBLICAÇÃO: 070D/2019

BRASÍLIA/DF FEVEREIRO/2019



UNIVERSIDADE DE BRASÍLIA FACULDADE DE AGRONOMIA E MEDICINA VETERINÁRIA PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM AGRONOMIA

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE OIL OF DIFFERENT VARIETIES OF AVOCADO GROWN IN BRAZIL AND A NEW METHODOLOGY FOR EXTRA-VIRGIN AVOCADO OIL EXTRACTION

CARACTERIZAÇÃO, DO ÓLEO DE DIFERENTES VARIEDADES DE ABACATE CULTIVADOS NO BRASILE UMA NOVA METODOLOGIA PARA A EXTRAÇÃO DE ÓLEO DE ABACATE EXTRA VIRGEM

ZAENAB ALNASAN

TESE DE DOUTORADO SUBMETIDA AO PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM AGRONOMIA, COMO PARTE DOS REQUISITOS NECESSÁRIOS À OBTENÇÃO DO GRAU DE DOUTOR EM AGRONOMIA.

APROVADA POR:

Eng. Agrônomo Osvaldo Kiyoshi Yamanishi, Ph.D. (Universidade de Brasília – FAV) (Orientador) CPF: 065.273.838–94 E-mail: kiyoshi@unb.br

Eng. Agrônomo José Ricardo Peixoto, Doutor (Universidade de Brasília – FAV) (Examinador Interno) CPF: 354.356.236-34 E-mail: peixoto@unb.br

Eng. Agrônomo Márcio de Carvalho Pires, Doutor (Universidade de Brasília – FAV) (Examinador Interno) CPF: 844.256.601-53 E-mail: mcpires@unb.br

Eng. Agrônomo Simone Palma Favaro, Doutora (EMBRAPA) (Examinador Externo) CPF:75980703934E-mail: simone.favaro@embrapa.br

BRASÍLIA/DF, 26 de Fevereiro de 2019.

FICHA CATALOGRÁFICA

Alnasan, Zaenab
Characteristics Of The Oil Of Different Varieties Of Avocado Grown In Brazil And A New Methodology For Extra-Virgin Avocado Oil Extraction. / Zaenab Alnasan orientação de Osvaldo Kiyoshi Yamanishi. – Brasília, 2019.
78 p. : il.
Tese de Doutorado (D) – Universidade de Brasília/Faculdade de Agronomia e Medicina Veterinária, 2019.
1. Hass. 2. Breda. 3. Margarida. 4. Quintal. 5. Fortuna.

REFERÊNCIA BIBLIOGRÁFICA

ALNASAN, Z. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE OIL OF DIFFERENT VARIETIES OF AVOCADO GROWN IN BRAZIL AND A NEW METHODOLOGY FOR EXTRA-VIRGIN AVOCADO OIL EXTRACTION. Brasília: Faculdade de Agronomia e Medicina Veterinária, Universidade de Brasília, 2019, 78 p. Tese de Doutorado.

CESSÃO DE DIREITOS

NOME DO AUTOR: ZAENAB ALNASAN

TÍTULO DA TESE : CHARACTERISTICS OF THE OIL OF DIFFERENT VARIETIES OF AVOCADO GROWN IN BRAZIL AND A NEW METHODOLOGY FOR EXTRA-VIRGIN AVOCADO OIL EXTRACTION

GRAU:DOUTORA EM AGRONOMIA ANO: 2019

É concedida à Universidade de Brasília de Brasília permissão para reproduzir cópias desta tese de doutorado para única e exclusivamente propósitos acadêmicos e científicos. O autor reserva para si os outros direitos autorais, de publicação. Nenhuma parte desta tese de doutorado pode ser reproduzida sem a autorização por escrito do autor. Citações são estimuladas, desde que citada à fonte.

Nome: Zaenab Alnasan CPF: 706.405.961-42 Endereço.ASA SUL SQS 310 BLOCO D, APT 506 Tel. (61) 981396381 Email:Zeinalnasan@hotmail.com

Acknowledgment

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my wonderful supervisor professor. Dr. Osvaldo Kiyoshi Yamanishi for his guidance, supervision, patience, generosity and support during this research work.

I also wish to thank all the Professors of the "Postgraduate Program in Agronomy - FAV / UnB (University of Brazilia)" for their professionalismin teaching and orientation. In particular Professors: Jose Ricardo Peixoto, Marcio De Carvalho Pires, Simone Palma Favaro from EMBRAPA, Prof. Ernandes Rodrigues de Alencar, Jean Mattos, Michelle Souza Vilela, Cícero Célio de Figueiredo Coordenador do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Agronomia, Guilherme Queiroz the Executive Secretary of Programa de Pós-Graduação em Agronomia, and Professor. Dr. Nabil Batti from Damascus University for his encouragement and consistent support.

The CAPES (for their financial support through scholarship), Elias Saba, Sadia Fida Ullah and to everyone who, one way or another, contributed to the accomplishment of this work, thank you very much and may God bless all of us.

I am most grateful for the staff of EMBRAPA CERRADO, EEB, Faculty of Agronomy and Veterinary Medicine (FAV), Faculty of Pharmacy, (UnB) for the laboratory equipment used for oil extraction in particular Mrs. Patricia Marques and Mrs. Julia Muller, in addition ITRC (Industrial Testing & Research Center) (Damascus) for conducting part of oil samples analysis in particular my sister Amina. Thanks to Tsuge Farm and ABPA (Brazilian Avocado Growers Association) for the financial. Great thankful to Luiza Xavier da Sliva Tenorio and Sarah Sampaio Py-Daniel from CDT for their great efforts.

My sincere thanks to the staff of the General Commission for Scientific Agricultural Research (GCSAR) in Damascus, in particular the General Director Dr. Magda Mohammed Mofleh, Dr. Faten Hamed, and Mrs. Wedad Badran who allocated me enough time to do this research.

My sincere thanks to the staff of Syrian embassy in Brasilia especially Ambassador, Dr. Gassan Nsyer and his wife Mrs. Hanan Fallouh for their continuous encouragemant and support.

My sincere thanks to my family: my mother Professora Hanifa Al-Khanshour, my sisters Mariam, Amina, Fatima, Mohamadia, Ahmadia, and my brother Mohamad Alnasan, for their endless support, encouragement and love. My brothers' in-law Dr. Mazen Al-Rifai who helped me a lot in everything, Osama Mustafa and Laurent Damesin.

My sincere thanks to my nieces and nephews: Maya, Mayar, Mayth and Maryanne Al-Rifai for helping me communicating in Portuguese in the early stages of this work, Taym and Tayd Moustafa as well.

May god have mercy on the spirit of my father Ibrahim and my brother Mahmoud Alnasan who was studying Geology when he left us at the age of twenty. I always remember him when I see beautiful stones in Brazil.

Last but not least, my utmost gratitude is to my homeland, Syria, which taught me Love, Patience and Giving despite of all the difficulties and suffering of war. In addition, to Brazil, which welcomed me well in the previous difficult time.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	01
Important Concepts Regarding Avocado Oil 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	02
2.1. Avocado in the World	03
2.2. Chemical Composition of Avocado Oil	05
 2.2.1. Saponifiable Fraction. 2.2.1.1. Fatty Acid Composition. 2.2.2. Unsaponifiable Matter (UM). 2.2.2.1. Sterols. 2.2.2.2. Tocopherols and Tocotrienols. 2.2.2.3. Chlorophyll & Carotenoids. 2.2.2.4. Mono- and Diglycerides. 2.2.2.5. Free Fatty Acids. 2.2.2.6. Phosphatides. Phosphatides. 2.3. Standards For Avocado Oil	
2.4.Factors Influencing the Oil Content of Avocado	10
2.5. Uses of avocado oil	11
2.5.1. Food2.5.2. Cosmetic Industry2.5.3. Dietary supplement	11 11
2.5.4. Healthy Aging	12
2.5.4.1. DNA Damage Protection	12
2.5.4.2. Osteoarthritis	12
2.5.4.3. Eye Health	13
2.5.4.4. Skin Health	13
2.5.4.5. Cancer	14
2.5.6. Biodiesel.	14
2.6. Processing of Avocado Oil	15
2.7. Refining of Avocado Oil2.8. Effect of Processing on the Quality of Oil	
2.9 REFERENCES	21
3. HYPOTHESES	27
4. JUSTIFICATION	27

5. Ex DUR	periment I- CHANGES IN DRY MATTER, OIL CONTENT AND FATTY AC	ID OF AVOCADO
5.1	1. INTRODUCTION	
5.2	2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
	5.2.1.MATERIALS.	
	5.2.2. METHODS	
	5.2.2.1. Dry matter contents	
	5.2.2.2. Oil content	
	5.2.2.3. Fatty acid composition of the extracted oil	
	5.2.2.4. Statistical analysis	31
5.3.	. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
5.4.	. CONCLUSIONS	35
5.5.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	35
5.6.	.REFERENCES	
6. Ex TRA	xperiment II- A NEW METHODOLOGY FOR EXTRA-VIRGIN AVOCADO OII DITIONAL PRODUCTION METHODS	L EXTRACTION VERSUS
6.1.	INTRODUCTION	
6.2.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	40
	6.2.1.MATERIALS	
	6.2.2.METHODS	
	6.2.2.1. Dry matter contents	40
	6.2.2.2. Oil content	41
	6.2.2.3. Determination of fatty acid	41
	6.2.2.4. Statistical analysis	41
6.3.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	41
6.4.	CONCLUSION & RECOMMENDATIONS	
6.5.	REFERENCES	47

7. EXPE FRUIT	RIMENT III-INFLUENCE OF DIFFERENT CULTIVARS AND HARVESTING TIME `ON OIL CONTENT, DRY MATTER, AND FATTY ACID COMPOSITION	E OF AVOCADO
7.1. IN	TRODUCTION	49
7.2. M	ATERIALS AND METHODS	
7.2	2.1. MATERIALS	51
7.2	2.2. METHODS	
7.2.2.	1. Dry matter contents and fruit characteristics	51
	7.2.2.2. Oil content	52
	7.2.2.3. Fatty acid composition of the extracted oil	52
7.2.2.4	. Statistical analysis	
7.3. RI	ESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
7.4. CO	ONCLUSION	59
7.5. RI	EFERENCES	60
8. EXF	PERIMENT IV-EFFECTS OF CULTIVAR AND RIPENING STAGE OF BRAZILIAN	AVOCADO
FRUIT	ON OIL CONTENT, DRY MATTER, AND FATTY ACID	
COMP ⁸ 1 IN	OSITION	
8.2. M	ATERIALS AND METHODS.	
8.	2.1. MATERIALS	67
8.	2.2. METHODS	
	8.2.2.1. Dry matter contents	68
	8.2.2.2. Oil content	68
	8.2.2.3. Determination of fatty acid	68
	8.2.2.4. Statistical analysis	68
8.3.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
8.4.	CONCLUSION & RECOMMENDATIONS	
8.5.	REFERENCES	75

List of Tables

Table 1. Avocado: production of ten major producer countries in the world.
Table 2. Typical analysis of the Fatty Acid composition of Avocado Oil as compared to Olive Oil
Table 3. Proposed standards for avocado oil
Table 4. Fruit weight and changes in the oil content and dry matter of 'Hass' at six storage periods31
Table 5. Fruit weight and changes in the oil content and dry matter of 'Breda' at six storage periods
Table 6. Fruit weight and changes in the oil content and dry matter of 'Margarida' at six storage periods
Table 7. The fatty acid composition expressed as % of avocado oil ('Hass', 'Breda', 'Margarida') at six storage
periods
Table 8. Saturated (SFA), monounsaturated (MUFA), polyunsaturated (PUFA), unsaturated fatty acids (UFA)
profile (% of total fatty acids); MUFA/SFA, PUFA/SFA, and UFA/SFA mean value during of six storage periods
from avocado fruit 'Hass', 'Breda', 'Margarida'34
Table 9. Steps and design process of cold-centrifugal for avocado oil extraction for cultivars (Hass, Breda,
Margarida, Fortuna, and Quintal)43
Table 10. Fruit characteristics of different varieties of avocado (Hass, Breda, Fortuna, Quintal, and Margarida),
Fruit weight, pulp, seed, peel, oil and moisture percentage in fruits and Some parameters
Table 11. Values (mean ± standard deviation) of fruit parameters from 'Hass', 'Quintal' and 'Fortuna' avocado
cultivars for three different harvesting time
Table 12. Fatty acid composition (percent) of pulp oils obtained from three different cultivars of Brazilian
avocado fruit during three harvesting time
Table 13. Saturated (SFAs), Monounsaturated (MUFAs), Polyunsaturated (PUFAs), Unsaturated Fatty Acids
(UFAs) profile of pulp oils obtained from three different cultivars of Brazilian avocado fruit during three
harvesting time
Table 14. Values (mean ± standard deviation) of fruit parameters from 'Hass', 'Breda' and 'Margarida' Brazilian
avocado cultivars during different ripening stages71
Table 15. Fatty acid composition (percent) of pulp oils extracted from three different cultivars of Brazilian
avocado fruit during ripening stages
Table 16. Saturated (SFAs), Monounsaturated (MUFAs), Polyunsaturated (PUFAs), Unsaturated Fatty Acids
(UFAs) profile in pulp oils extracted from three different cultivars of Brazilian avocado fruit during ripening
stages

List of Figures

Figure 1. Avocado: harvested area and production, regions and principal united producers in Brazil. So	ource:
AGRIANUAL, (2016)	4
Figure 2. Forms of major fatty acids in olive oil and Avocado Oil.	6
Figure 3. Cold press extraction process	ess of
cold-centrifugal for avocado oil extraction for cultivars (Hass, Breda, Margarida, Fortuna,	and
Quintal)	44
Figure 5. The percentage of Oleic acid of avocado oil (Hass, Quintal and Fortuna) at three harvesting	time.
	57

RESUMO

Avaliaram-se os efeitos de diferentes cultivares e estágio de maturação do abacate, fruto brasileiro, (Persea Americana, Mill) no teor de óleo, matéria seca e composição de ácidos graxos. Cinco cultivares de abacate, fruto, incluindo Hass, Quintal, Fortuna, Breda e Margarida a, foram colhidos em três e quatro diferentes estágios de maturação, de junho a setembro de 2015, de acordo com o padrão de colheita da Fazenda Tsuge, em Rio Paranaíba, Minas Gerais, Brasil. O teor de matéria seca e O teor de óleo aumentou significativamente em todos os estágios de maturação, todas as cultivares.Em todos os estágios de maturação, todas as cultivares.Em todos os estágios de maturação, todas as cultivares.Em todos os estágios de maturação, todas as cultivares, ácido oléico, palmítico, linoléico e palmitoleico foram os principais ácidos graxos. A particularidade do presente trabalho no Brasil aparece na nova metodologia de extração utilizada, sem uso de (enzima, CO2 supercrítico, hidrólise ácida, alcalina, solvente, aquecimento ou adição de água); Ele depende da separação do óleo usando centrífuga e misturando alternativamente. O óleo extraído é de alta qualidade; uma cor clara amarela ou verde, agradável e atraente, é o Óleo de Abacate Extra Virgem (EVAO), pois não precisa ser refinado.

Palavras-chave: Hass, Breda, Margarida, Quintal, Fortuna.

ABSTRACT

The effects of different cultivars and ripening stages of Brazilian avocado fruits (Persea Americana, Mill) on oil content, dry matter, and fatty acid composition were evaluated. Five cultivars of avocado fruits including Hass, Quintal, Fortuna, Breda and Margarida were harvested at three to four different ripening stages from June to September, 2015, according to Tsuge Farm picking standard in Rio Paranaíba city, Minas Gerais State, Brazil. Dry matter and oil content increased significantly during ripening stages in all cultivars. In all ripening stages, of all cultivars, oleic, palmitic, linoleic and palmitoleic acids were the major fatty acids. The particularity of the present work in Brazil appears in the new extraction methodology used, without usage of (enzyme, supercritical CO2, acid hydrolysis, alkaline, solvent, heating, or add water); it relies on the separation of oil using centrifugal and mixing alternatively. The extracted oil is of high quality; a nice and attractive clear yellow or green color is Extra-Virgin Avocado Oil (EVAO) as it does not need to be refined.

Key Word: Hass, Breda, Margarida, Quintal, Fortuna.

1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Avocado (*Persea americana Mill*) is an oil-rich, highly nutritious fruit which is abundant in Brazil but has a very small local market. The avocado oil contains all the beneficial attributes of the fruit, which makes it a very valuable product. It contains high amounts of the anti-cholesterol agent beta-sitosterol, a wide variety of vitamins and antioxidants, and other plant chemicals, which impart beneficial functional properties on humans.

The pulp contains up to 30% of the oil (based on fresh weight). It is rich in monounsaturated fatty acids, and has nutritional properties similar to those of olive oil. However, there is no widespread commercial method for oil recovery from avocado pulp.

The process for recovering oil from ripe avocados is a mechanical extraction, similar to that used for olive oil extraction, with plus the steps of removing the skin and stone (seed). The flesh is then ground to a paste and malaxed for 40-60 minutes at 45-50°C. This is a higher malaxing temperature than the one used for olive oil extraction, but it is still considered to be cold-pressed extraction for avocado oil. The slightly higher temperature aids the extraction of the oil from the oil-containing cells and does not affect the quality of the oil. The oil and water phases are separated from the pulp using a high-speed decanting centrifuge, and then the oil is separated from the water in final polishing centrifuges, or by heating the pulp and pressing out the oil, solvents, enzymes, supercritical CO_2 . The cold press and supercritical CO_2 methods are the two best options to consider for processing avocado oil. The pulp from the decanting centrifuge and waste skin/seeds are returned to orchards for soil conditioning and mulch; it can also be used as animal feed. Seeds may be used for biofuel extraction.

Avocado oil for cosmetics is traditionally extracted with solvents at elevated temperatures. After extraction, the oil for application in skin care products is usually refined, bleached, and deodorized, resulting in odorless yellow oil.

The oil can be produced as a virgin oil or as a refined oil suited for various food preparation. The unsaponifiable fraction of the oil represents another major profitable market as used in the cosmetic and pharmaceutical industries, which has been the traditional end-user of avocado oil.

The use of immature fruits to produce oil with higher unsaponifiable content and phytochemicals is an interesting area to pursue for capsule production. Important Concepts Regarding Avocado Oil:

1- Quantitative Factors:

The more the quantity of the original oil in the Avocado fruits would result in the higher rate of oil extracted. Using efficient method such as the decanter and the centrifuge may enhance the quantity of oil extracted; especially when parameter of extraction method is optimized.

2- Qualitative Factors:

Avocado oil quality can be improved by implementing low temperature extraction method, less than 27°C with no oxygen availability during mixing of the Avocado pulp and oil extraction process by pumping the N2 gas inside the system. Hence the resulting oil would be low in [FFA] and Peroxide values.

3- The resulting oil will be healthy and natural, presenting higher marketing values. Hence may contribute in the economical progress of the Avocado oil producing country such as Brazil.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Avocado in the World

The avocado tree is a fruit plant originated in the Americas, especially Mexico and Central America, belonging to the *Lauraceae* family and *Persea* genus (Maranca, 1980; Koller, 1992).

It is one of the most productive plants per unit of cultivated area (15-40 ton/hectare) in Brazil. Many varieties of avocado are found in different regions of Brazil, whose fruits have varied chemical composition, especially in terms of levels of lipids in the pulp. Fruits with high levels of lipids in the pulp can be important raw material for oil extraction (Tango; Turatti, 1992).

Mexico is the country that leads the production of avocados in the world; Brazil is one of the largest producers in the world as shown in table 1. The state of São Paulo is the largest domestic producer, accounting for more than 50% of production. The state of Minas Gerais is the second, followed by Paraná and Espírito Santo as shown in Figure 1. (AGRIANUAL, 2016).

Avocado fruits are used for oil extraction when they are mature or have showing soft consistency. In this stage they have higher levels of oil, facilitate the separation of the peel and core, and still facilitate processing to obtain the oil (Tango and Turatti, 1992).

Lucchesi (1975) reported that the oil content in avocado pulp can be less than 2% during the first two months of fruit standing on the tree, then increases slowly to the final stage, than fast reaching up to 35% of the pulp.

Oil levels in "Hass" avocado flesh can increase 1-2% early in a season to >30% late in a season, depending on the cultivar (Lewis, 1978; Kaiser & Wolstenholme, 1994; Requejo-Tapia, 1999; Woolf et al., 2009).

The main varieties that supply the domestic market in Brazil are: Geada, Quintal, Fortuna, Breda and Margarida. The main variety for export and/or industrialization is Hass (Yamanishi, 2011).

		Production (t)						
	Country	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
1	Mexico	1.107.140	1.264.141	1.316.104	1.467.837	1.520.695	1.644.226	1.889.354
2	Rep. Dominicana	275.569	295.080	290.011	387.546	428.301	526.438	601.349
3	Peru	184.370	212.857	215.000	288.387	349.317	367.110	455.394
4	Colombia	201.869	215.095	219.352	303.340	288.739	309.852	309.431
5	Indonesia	224.278	275.953	294.200	276.311	307.326	382.530	304.938
6	Brazil	152.187	160.376	159.903	157.482	156.699	180.652	195.492
7	Kenya	113 206	201.478	160.000	191.505	218.692	136.420	176.045
8	USA	149.300	238.544	245.000	175.226	179.124	203.209	172.630
9	Chile	330.000	368.568	160.000	164.750	160.000	146.204	137.365
10	China	105.400	108.500	110.000	112.000	116.000	117.938	128.601

Table (1): Avocado: production of ten major producer countries in the world.

Source: FAOSTAT (2018).

Avocado: harvested area and production, regions and principal united producers in Brazil (2013)



Figure1.Avocado: harvested area and production, regions and principal united producers in Brazil. Source: AGRIANUAL, (2016)

2.2. Chemical Composition of Avocado Oil:

2.2.1. Saponifiable Fraction: Fats and oils are constructed of building blocks called "triglycerides" (also known as triacylglycerols) resulting from the combination of one unit of glycerol and three units of fatty acids. They are insoluble in water but soluble in most organic solvents. They have lower densities than water, and may have consistencies at ambient temperature of solid, semi-solid, or clear liquid. When they are solid appearing at a normal room temperature, they are referred to as "fats," and when they are liquid at that temperature, they are called "oils."

2.2.1.1. Fatty Acid Composition

Atypical avocado oil is comprised mostly of monounsaturated fatty acids (74%), 11% polyunsaturated fatty acids and about 13% saturated (Arpaia *et al.*, 2006). These percentages vary slightly with cultivars and other factors but the oil is very similar to olive oil. It is this high level of monounsaturated fat, which gives the desirable effect of being "anticholesterol" as it prevents the formation of clots the major cause of coronary heart disease (Zarrabal*et al.*, 2014).

Fatty Acids	Fatty Acids	Africa Oil Analysis (%)	New Zealand Oil Analysis (%)			
		Avocado Oil	Avocado Oil	Olive Oil		
Palmitic Acid	C16:0	11.85	12.5-14.0	8.6-12.9		
Palmitoleic Acid	C16:1	3.98	4.0-5.0	0.3-0.7		
Stearic Acid	C18:0	0.87	0.2-0.4	2.1-2.8		
Oleic Acid	C18:1	70.54	70-74	77-82.6		
Linoleic Acid	C18:2	9.45	9.0-10.0	4.6-7.5		
Linolenic Acid	C18:3	0.87	0.3-0.6	0.5-0.7		
Arachidic Acid	C20:0	0.50	0.1	0.0-0.6		
Gadoleic Acid	C20:1	-	0.1	0.0-1.4		
Eliosenoic Acid	C20:1	0.39	-	-		

 Table (2): Typical analysis of the Fatty Acid composition of Avocado Oil as compared to

 Olive Oil

(Eyres et al., 2006; Human, 1987).

Table 2 lists results from two different countries and their analysis of avocado oil confirms the healthy composition of the oil in terms of fatty acid composition. It also indicates the comparability of avocado oil to olive oil due to very similar fatty acid composition. The analysis reported in table 2 was done using the Fatty Acid Methyl Ester (FAME) analysis on a Gas Chromatograph.



Figure 2. Forms of major fatty acids in olive oil and Avocado Oil. Source: IOC, 2015; Wong et al., 2010

During Wong et al., 2010 in figure 2 avocado oil is a source high in monounsaturated fatty acids. avocado oil contains on average 60 to 80 % oleic acid, polyunsaturated fatty acids 7to 20% as linoleic acidand saturated fatty acid 10 to 25% as palmitic acid. depending on cultivar, growing region and time in the season. This compares favorably toolive oil which contains 55- 83 % oleic acid and from 3.5 to 21 % polyunsaturated fatty acids (linoleic acid) and from 7.5 to 20% Palmitic acid (IOC, 2015). The nutritional properties of olive oil, as a cholesterol-reducing food, are well known, and are shown by the low indexes of coronary diseases in Mediterranean countries, where consumption of this product is high (Andrikopolous, 1989). In fact, among people who live around the Mediterranean, heart disease is uncommon (Grundy, 1988). The high concentration of monounsaturated fatty acids in avocado suggests that a diet rich in avocado will have beneficial effects on blood lipids.

2.2.2. Unsaponifiable Matter (UM)

An important characteristic of this fruit is the high content of unsaponifiable matter (UM) 1 to 4% when compared with that of common edible oils (Turatti and Canto, 1985). Lozano et al., (1993) noted that the UM in crude oil of four cultivars of avocado was always higher in immature fruits than in mature fruits (15–40%*vs.* 4–

9%). The sterol content in the oil was always higher in immature (1.1-6.2%) than in mature (0.8-2.0%) fruits.

2.2.2.1. Sterols: The main constituent of this group is the β -sitosterol, comprising about 80% of the sterols. Other types of sterols also present are campesterol, stigmasterol, and cholesterol (law, 2000).Beta-sitosterol (a phytosterol) is one of the healthy plant compounds found to be most abundant in avocado. It is widely proven to be responsible for the non-absorption of the bad cholesterol (LDL) and maintaining the good HDL cholesterol in the intestine which then lowers total plasma cholesterol (Arpaia *et al.*, 2006). This compound was also reported by the British Medical Journal the Lancet to be very effective in offering relief to men above 50 years who suffered from benign prostatic hyperplasia resulting in significant improvements in urinary difficulties. These phytosterols have a similar chemical structure to cholesterol, differing only in their side chain lengths, and this structure similarity explains the ability of phytosterols to reduce cholesterol (Hicks and Moreau, 2001).

2.2.2.7 tocopherols and Tocotrienols. Tocopherols and tocotrienols are important minor constituents of most vegetable fats. They serve as antioxidants to retard rancidity and as sources of the essential nutrient vitamin E. The common types of tocopherols and tocotrienols are alpha, beta, gamma, and delta. α – tocopherol is one powerful antioxidant, which neutralizes the free radicals produced under the normal metabolism of lipid compounds (Arpaia *et al.*, 2006).Tocopherols are commonly used as antioxidants (Murcia et al., 2001) because they give the hydrogen from the hydroxyl group to the peroxyl radical. They can also inhibit lipid peroxidation by sequestering the singlet oxygen (Kamal-Eldin and Appelqvist, 1996; Fukuzawa et al., 1998) and free radicals (Schuler, 1990).Tocopherols which occur naturally in most vegetable oils are partially removed during processing. The tocopherol content differed with the cultivars (10.2–25.0 mg/100 g UM), and the levels in the oil were higher in immature (20.1–45.6 mg/100 g oil) than in mature (5.7–10.3 mg/100 g oil) fruits (Lozano et al., 1993).

2.2.2.3. Chlorophyll & Carotenoids: Chlorophyll is a group of green colour pigments, carotenoids are the chemical compounds that reflect Yellow, orange and red colours. They are not soluble in water. Instead, they are soluble in fat. Crude and virgin oils have high amount of chlorophyll and carotenoids. The virgin oil with high chlorophyll content is highly desired by consumers due to the health benefits associated with the presence of these micronutrients. The high chlorophyll

content makes the oil highly prone to oxidative effects upon exposure to light and for this reason must be packed in dark bottles. carotenoids like lutein are also present in high amounts while others like neoxanthin, violaxanthin, antheraxanthin are present in very minute amounts (Arpaia *et al.*, 2006). Further processing and refining removes the chlorophyll and other pigments giving oil that is pale yellow in colour and also more stable (Botha, 2004; Eyres *et al.*, 2006).

2.2.2.4. Mono- and Diglycerides. Mono- and diglycerides are mono- and diesters of fatty acids and glycerol.

2.2.2.5. Free Fatty Acids. As the name suggests, free fatty acids are the unattached fatty acids present in a fat. Some unrefined oils may contain as much as several percent free fatty acids. The levels of free fatty acids are reduced in the refining process.

2.2.2.6.Phosphatides. Phosphatides, also known as phospholipids, consist of an alcohol (usually glycerol) combined with fatty acids, and a phosphate ester. The majority of the phosphatides are removed from oil during the degumming and refining operations. Phosphatides are an important source of natural emulsifiers marketed as lecithin (Chairman et al., 2006).

2.3. Standards For Avocado Oil

The impacts of postharvest procedures, preprocessing treatments, extraction, and storage on the composition, quality, and sensory characteristics of avocado oil have been investigated over the last 10 years in New Zealand in collaboration with Australian and Californian research groups. Standards have been proposed for avocado oil, including extra virgin, virgin, and pure grades oil (Table 3). These standards have been recommended to ensure that avocado oil sold is of good quality in terms of standard quality indices, composition, and sensory properties. The standards are unique to avocado oil, where cold-pressed avocado oil is recovered by mechanical extraction at temperatures less than 50°C, without solvents; water and enzymes can be used. These standards are important, as the production and culinary consumption of cold-pressed avocado oil, with its light, distinctive flavor, is increasing worldwide.

TABLE 3. Proposed standards for avocado oil ^a							
	Extra virgin	Virgin	Pure	blend			
General	Oil extracted from	Oil extracted from	Fruit quality	Avocado oil is			
	high- quality fruit	sound fruit with some	not important.	excellent for			
	(minimal levels of	rots or physiological	Decolorized	blending and			
	rots and	disorders. Extraction	and	complements			
	physiological	to be carried out	deodorized oil	extra virgin			
	disorders). Extraction	using only	with low	olive, flaxseed,			
	to be carried out	mechanical	acidity. Low	macadamia,			
	using only	extraction methods	color, and	and pumpkin			
	mechanical extraction	including presses,	bland flavor.	seed oils. The			
	methods including	decanters, and screw	Oil produced	specification			
	presses, decanters,	presses at low	from good	and			
	and screw presses at	temperature (quality virgin	composition			
	low temperatures	<50°C). Addition of	avocado oil;	should match			
	(<50°C). Addition of	water and processing	may be just	what is claimed			
	water and processing	aids (e.g., enzymes	avocado oil or	on the label.			
	aids (e.g., enzymes	and talcum powder)	infused with				
	and talcum powder)	is acceptable, but no	natural herb or				
	is acceptable, but no	chemical solvents	fruit flavors.				
	chemical solvents can	can be used					
	be used						
Organolepti	c characteristicsb	ſ	ſ	1			
Odor and	Characteristic	Characteristic	Bland or	Dependent on			
taste	avocado flavor and	avocado flavor and	matches	the blend.			
	sensory assessment	sensory assessment	description of				
	shows at least	shows at some	infused flavor,				
	moderate (above 40	(above 20 on a 100-	e.g., lemon,				
	on a 100-point scale)	point scale) levels of	chili,				
	levels of grassy and	grassy and	rosemary, etc.				
	mushroom/butter	mushroom/butter					
	with some smoky	with some smoky.	X 1.0	X 1 C			
defects	Minimal to no defects	Low levels only of	Low defects	Low defects			
	such as painty and	defects such as painty	such as painty	such as painty			
	fishy notes below 20	and fishy notes below	and fishy notes	and fishy notes			
	and glue-like below	50 as a sensory panel	below 50 as a	below 50 as a			
	35 as a sensory panel	average on a 100-	sensory panel	sensory panel			
	average on a 100	point scale average	average on a	average on a			
	point scale.	on a 100-point scale		100-point scale			
			scale average	average on a			
				100-point			
Color	Intense and attractive	Croon with notontial	Dela vallow	Dependent on			
COLOL	green	vellow hue	I all yellow	the bland			
Free fatty	<0.5%	0.8-1.0%	<0.1%	As specified			
acid (% as				- is specified			
oleic acid)							
Acid value	≤ 1	<u>≤2.0</u>	≤0.2				
Peroxide value	<u>_4.0</u>	<8.0	<0.5				
(meq/kg oil)							
Smoke	≥250°C	≥200°C	≥250°C				

point						
Moisture	≤0.1%	≤0.1%	≤0.1%			
Fatty acid co	mposition % (typical values)				
Palmitic	10-25					
acid (16:0)						
Palmitoleic	2-8					
acid (16:1)						
Stearic	0.1-0.4					
acid (18:0)						
Oleic acid	60-80					
(18:1)						
Linoleic	7-20					
acid (18:2)						
Linolenic	0.2-1					
acid (18:3)						
Antioxidants	(mg/kg)					
Vitamin E	70-190					
Trace metals (mg/kg)						
Copper	≤0.05	≤0.05	≤0.05	≤0.05		
aReproduced from Woolf et al., 2009						
b These characteristics are measured with a trained sensory panel with a minimum of 15 hours of experience						
of tasting olive oil.						

2.4. Factors Influencing the Oil Content of Avocado

Avocado fruits with high oil content must be used in the production of oil. Various factors however are known to affect the oil content of fruits and they are:

Cultivar -Different cultivars vary in oil content upon maturity and only those with high oil content should be considered. Because the oil is contained in the pulp or flesh, cultivars with high proportion of flesh and minimum seed and peel should also be selected. Many studies have confirmed the Hass cultivar to be superior in quality with all the favorable attributes (Human, 1987).

Maturity stage –The time at which the fruits of any given cultivar is harvested was noted by (Arpaia et al., 2006) to have great impact on the oil content of the fruits. Maturity is when the fruit is most suitable for human consumption and not for processing. Some cultivars mature early while others mature much later and understanding this becomes very important for choosing when to harvest. However, it is understood that when avocado fruits mature their moisture content lower while their oil increases and leaving the fruits on the trees much longer after maturity tend to increase oil content (Human, 1987).

Location and growth conditions - The same study of avocado postharvest quality by (Arpaia et al., 2006) also noted differences in oil content for the same cultivar due to different locations and growth conditions such as soil fertility. Sun exposed

fruits were also found by (Woolf et al., 1999) to yield higher levels of oil than those fruits in the shade.

2.5. Uses of avocado oil:

Either crude or semi-refinedavocado oil can be used in pharmaceutical and cosmetic industries while refined avocado oil can be used in both cosmetics and food industries. Two examples of food oils are: salad oil and cooking oil (Tango and Turatti, 1992).

2.5.1. Food: The oil is highly applicable for food preparation and because of its high quality properties which is similar to olive oil, it provides another healthy alternative for consumers. It is marketed as healthy oil due to its high content of monounsaturated fat, presence of high vitamin content. The high sterol content in particular and its cholesterol lowering effect is what makes this oil a must for modern society. In many countries, avocado is consumed as a vegetable in the form of salads, with onions, cheese, salt and pepper as soup, or as a canned product (Teixeira et al., 1992). In Brazil, it is often used in sweet dishes, by mixing fresh avocado with cream, sugar in the form of shakes, and ice creams. avocado can also be used in savory dishes such as guacamole which common in Mexico (Oliveira et al., 2003).

2.5.2. Cosmetic Industry: Avocado oil is well known for its anti-bacterial, antiwrinkle and healing properties. The multiple properties of avocado oil namely stability, emollience; skin penetration, softening and moisturizing, results in its wide applicability for cosmetic products. The high penetration ability of the oil makes it very successful in its use as a natural and effective beauty aid. Swisher (1988) mentioned that product information from the U.S Food and Drug Administration (1976) shows a total of 240 products containing avocado oil in concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 50%. Avocado oil is used in the formulation of cleansing creams, lipsticks, moisturizers, hair conditioners, suntan lotions, bath oils and make-up bases. Avocado oil demonstrated the highest rate of skin penetration (similar to lanolin). At present time, avocado oil is mostly used in the cosmetic industry as an ingredient in a range of products (Human, 1987). The high cost of the fruit itself makes the production of avocado oil an expensive product that can be paid only by the cosmetic or pharmaceutics industry.

2.5.3. Dietary supplement: One of the most exciting products produced by New Zealand based Olivado and Elysian Isle companies is the avocado oil capsule. It simply takes all the beneficial attributes found in avocado oil and seal it in a health

capsule, which can be taken daily. It contains all the healthy micronutrients and vitamins available in the oil, which can help, fight bad cholesterol, inflammatory, osteoarthritis and prostate problems. Preliminary evidence suggests beneficial effects of fruit phenolics on reducing CVD risk by reducing oxidative and inflammatory stress, enhancing blood flow and arterial endothelial health, and inhibiting platelet aggregation to help maintain vascular health (Chong et al., 2010; Arts and Hollman, 2005; Ghosh and Scheepens, 2009; Victor et al., 2009).

Avocados have the highest fruit lipophilic antioxidant capacity, which may be one factor in helping to reduce serum lipid peroxidation and promoting vascular health (Wu et al., 2007). Avocados contain a moderate level of phenolic compounds contributing 60 mg and 140 mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE) per 30 g and one-half fruit, respectively. The avocado also has a total antioxidant capacity of 600 µmol Trolox Equilvalent (TE) per 30 g or 1350 µmol TE per one-half fruit (Wu et al., 2004; 2007). This places avocados in the mid-range of fruit phenolic levels. Avocados have the highest fruit lipophilic antioxidant capacity, which may be one factor in helping to reduce serum lipid peroxidation and promoting vascular health (Wu et al., 2007).several exploratory trials suggest that MUFA rich diets help protect against abdominal fat accumulation and diabetic health complications (Tentolouris et al., 2008; Paniagua et al., 2007a; 2007b).

2.5.4. Healthy Aging

2.5.4.1. DNA Damage Protection

Several clinical studies suggest that xanthophyll's, similar to those found in avocados, may have antioxidant and DNA protective effects with possible healthy aging protective effects(Yong et al., 2009).

2.5.4.2. Osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis (OA) is characterized by progressive deterioration of joint cartilage and function with associated impairment, and this affects most people as they age or become overweight or obese (Dinubile, 2010; Helmick et al., 2008).Avocado and soy unsaponifiables (ASU) is a mixture of fatsoluble extracts in a ratio of about 1(avocado):2(soy). The major components of ASU are considered antiinflammatory com-pounds with both antioxidant and analgesic activities (Dinubile,2010; Lipiello et al., 2008; Au et al., 2007; Henroitin et al.,2006; Berenbaum, 2004; Ernst, 2003; Blotman et al., 1997). Clinical support for ASU in the management of hip and kneeOA comes from four randomized controlled trials (Lequesneet al., 2002; Appelboom et al., 2001; Maheu et al., 1998; Blotman et al., 1997) and one meta-analysis (Christensen et al.,2008). All studies used 300 mg per day. The clinical trials were generally positive with three providing OA support and one study showing no joint cartilage improvement compared to placebo.

2.5.4.3. Eye Health

Lutein and zeaxanthin are two types of carotenoids. which are yellow to red pigments found widely in vegetables and other plants. In nature, lutein and zeaxanthin appear to absorb excess light energy to prevent damage to plants from too much sunlight, especially from high-energy light rays called blue light.

In addition to being found in many green leafy plants and colorful fruits and vegetables, lutein and zeaxanthin are found in high concentrations in the macula of the human eye, giving the macula its yellowish color. In fact, the macula also is called the "macula lutea" (from the Latin macula, meaning "spot," and lutea, meaning "yellow"). Recent research has discovered a third carotenoid in the macula. Called meso-zeaxanthin, this pigment is not found in food sources and appears to be created in the retina from ingested lutein. Two studies published in Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science found that eyes with greater levels of macular pigments were less likely to have or develop macular degeneration (Nolan et al., 2013).Lutein and zeaxanthin are selectively taken up into the macula of the eye (the portion of the eye where light is focused on the lens) (Capentier et al., 2009). Avocados may contribute to eye health since they contain a combination of MUFA andlutein/zeaxanthin and help improve carotenoid absorption from other fruits and vegetables (Unlu et al., 2005). Avocados contain 185 µg of lutein/zeaxanthin per one-half;Hass fruit; 68g, which is expected to be more highly bioavailable than most other fruit and vegetable sources(USDA, 2011).

2.5.4.4. Skin Health

Skin often shows the first visible indication of aging. Topical application or consumption of some fruits and vegetables or their extracts such as avocado has been recommended for skin health (Roberts et al., 2009; Morganti et al., 2002; 2004).

2.5.4.5. Cancer

Avocados contain a number of bioactive phytochemicals including carotenoids, terpenoids, D-mannoheptulose, persenone A and B, phenols, and glutathione that have been reported to have anti-carcinogenic properties (Ding et al., 2009; Jones et al., 1992; Ames, 1983).

2.5.6. Biodiesel

All vegetable oils may be processed into biodiesel. In this way, the vegetable oils of the following species can be the raw material for biodiesel production: peanut kernels, palm pulp, sunflower seed, castor seed, passion fruit seed, avocado pulp, among many others vegetables in the form of seeds, such as almonds or the pulps (GÓES, 2006).

According to Arima et al.(1985)avocado oil yield obtained per hectare may be 5.5 times greater than the soybean and 4 times higher than peanut. The avocado production operating costs are in a position intermediate between soybean and peanut. Some other vegetable varieties have relatively high content of fatty matter.

Avocado can be a new alternative for biodiesel production, according to a study by researchers at the Universidade Estadual Paulista (UNESP). They found that avocado has the advantage as compared to other oil studied or used for the production of biofuels, such as soybean oil. The reason is that the same result is possible to extract the two main raw materials of biodiesel: oil from (pulp) and ethyl alcohol from (the seed).

Among of all methods studied by the group led by Menezes for oil extraction, the best result was obtained with drying. A rotary furnace with hot air was developed and, after drying, the pulp was ground and placed in the press, then the solvent suspension process was applied. From that moment, it was transferred to a basket centrifuge, developed by the group. "With the centrifugal force, the pulp turns very dry and the yield improves," noted Menezes, 2009.

The fruit takes a lot of energy in the drying process. However, researchers believe that the productivity and the presence of alcohol and oil from the same source offset the expense.

Improvisations - To get to the final product, Menezes had to go beyond chemistry. The first challenge was to extract, "using enzyme, acid hydrolysis and alkaline, to discover that dehydration was the best option," he explains. But dehydrating the fruit pulp was not easy. In traditional ovens, he ended up burning everything. Until the day he adapted an old washing machine with front cover to turn it into a rotary kiln.

Economic viability: According to the study done in UNESP, avocado oil biodiesel characteristics are quite similar to those seen with soy biodiesel, except for the color, which is green for avocado and yellow for soybeans. But this would not affect the quality.

The cost of biodiesel is still high. Soybean oil is produced at a cost of 1.20 R / a cost of 1.20 R / and the advantage of offering the substance at a lower cost than soybeans, according to Menezes.

According Menezes, avocado oil content ranges from 5% to 30%. However, samples collected in Bauru (SP) had, at most, 16% oil content. "This index is similar to soybean oil content in the same region, which is 18%," as he compared.

"Theoretically, it is possible to extract 2200-2800 liters of avocado oil per hectare" he said. This number is considered high when compared to the extraction of other oils, for example: soybean (440 to 550 liters / hectare) castor bean(740 to 1000 liters / hectare), sunflower (720 to 940 liters / hectare) and cotton (280 to 340 liters / hectare).

Avocado core has 20% starch. Based on this percentage, it is estimated that one can extract 74 liters of alcohol per ton of avocado pits. Value close to that of sugarcane, which enables the extraction of 85 liters per tone, while cassava provides 104 liters per tone (Agência FAPESP, 2009).

2.6. Processing of Avocado Oil

In order to produce a high quality product it requires the availability of high quality raw materials. For this reason it is imperative that the fruits used are of high grade in particular and must contain high proportion of pulp, nevertheless, have high oil content, free of diseases and must not be physically damaged as evident in pulp discoloration and/or off-flavors. The fruits must be carefully matured and ripened to allow maximum oil development before they are used.

Various methods have been used in the extraction of oil from avocado fruits. The methods vary in their degree of effectiveness for oil extraction and also subsequent effect on the resultant oil quality. Heating and chemical extraction have been the traditional methods used and now a new method has been developed in New Zealand which allows oil to be expressed from the fruits with very minimal processing. Human (1987) lists various methods used in the past for the extraction of avocado oil involving steam pressure, hydraulic pressing, solvent extraction, centrifugation, freeze-drying, rendering process and the use of a tube press plant. However the specific application of the oil should determine the process and method chosen. Only the most practical and suitable methods are discussed below.

Pre-Process Treatment

Avocado fruits destined for oil production must be firstly inspected for physical damage and other abnormalities. They are then washed before being processed to remove the skin and seed. The means used for washing, de-stoning and de-skinning of the fruits vary but all processes involve this first critical step.

Rendering process - This method involves heating of the avocado pulp in avocado oil. The moisture evaporates off leaving the oil and the dry matter behind. The oil can then be decanted off while the remaining slurry is subjected to hydraulic pressure to press out more or the remaining oil. It is reported that laboratory experiments resulted in 94% recovery of the oil using this method (Human, 1987).

Tube Press Plant– This consist of either one or two tubes. The tubes are filled with avocado pulp and then subjected to hydraulic pressure to press out the oil through perforations within the inner tubes. This method aims at extracting out most of the oil with minimal damage to the oil quality (Human, 1987).

Solvent Extraction– This is one of the traditional methods commonly used. Various solvents can be used and organic solvents have been mostly utilized. Botha (2004) reported experimental solvent extractions using hexane and a Soxhlet extractor on a 10g dried sample for 8 hours. Subsequent removal of the solvent followed by vacuum evaporation and drying until constant mass. The resultant oil has a high chlorophyll content meaning the chlorophyll is co-extracted along with the oil. Chlorophyll levels as high as 192.9 ppm were reported by Werman & Neeman (1987) to have been extracted in the laboratory by ethanol extraction.

Human (1987) reported this method to have the highest yield but industrial equipment is very expensive to install and the highly flammable solvents used are very dangerous. The recovery and total removal of the solvent is also an issue, which requires a highly sophisticated plant. Thus because the raw material is an expensive fruit and the oil yield is at maximum around 22% of the whole fruit it is not economical to extract avocado oil in this way. Xiao *et al.*,(2006) reported that

method does have other disadvantages like loss of volatile compounds, long extraction times, toxic solvent residues and degradation of valuable oil compounds.

Centrifugation– After the pre-processing treatment, the fruits are fed into a mill where it takes the form of a guacamole. The malaxation takes up to several hours until the release of a fine emulsion of oil. The paste is then fed to a centrifugal decanter where the oil is separated from the guacamole.

Werman & Neeman (1987) and Bizimana *et al.* (1993) reported that extraction of oil was most efficient using centrifugal force 12,300 xg, a 5:1 water to avocado ratio, temperature 75°C, with a pH 5.5 and a 5% concentration of either NaCl, CaCO₃ or CaSO₄.

Cold Press- as it is in figure (3) This relatively new method of extracting oil makes use of the modern Alfa Laval centrifugal extraction method so it is a variation of the above method. The fruit flesh is firstly macerated by high speed grinders before the mixture is mixed in malaxers. When this process is complete, a three phase decanter then separates the mixture into oil, water and solids before polishing takes place with a multi-cone centrifuge. Extra virgin oil is produced after the first press. The extraction efficiency is dependant on such things like pH, centrifugation rate, salt, mixing temperature (<50°C) and duration of pressing (Eyres *et al.*, 2006; Sionek, 1997). At no time along the whole process is the oil subjected to light or oxygen as this has a deteriorating effect on the quality of the oil. The extraction rates vary from 10-22% of the whole fruit and tend to vary during the season.

The production of cold pressed oil requires little investment and the process itself is simple. However, the process has inefficiencies in that around 6-15% of the oil remains in the pressed residue (Uzytku & Higieny, 1997).

Cold Press Extraction Process



(Wong et al., 2006)

Figure (3): cold press extraction process

The above method involves low temperatures and minimal processing and as a result, the oil retains all its natural flavour, nutrients and healthy properties. Thus, the resultant oil is of high quality and is considered a "virgin oil" because of very minimal processes involved. This virgin oil however has high chlorophyll content and is thus more unstable. This makes packaging in dark bottles or tins and total avoidance of oxygen a must for a longer shelf life for the product. This oil must be stored in a dark, cool cupboard where the temperature never rises above 30°C, but should never be refrigerated or it will solidify. Virgin oil has a shelf life of two years only if stored correctly. More stable refined cold processed oil can also be produced after it has undergone further processes of refining, bleaching and deodorization (RBD).

Supercritical CO2– Botha (2004) reported extraction results for avocado oil extracted using supercritical carbon dioxide under four different extraction conditions. The use of supercritical fluid is proven to be a cost-effective technique for laboratory scale while large scale units still require experimentation for accurate economic evaluations. This method has advantages such as low operating temperatures, shorter extraction periods, high selectivity in the extraction of compounds and no undesirable solvent residue (Xiao *et al.*, 2006). It also uses a safe, readily available gas.

2.7. Refining of Avocado Oil

Virgin and crude oil can be further processed when it does not meet the virgin oil quality standards. The crude oil with high chlorophyll content is a dark green transparent oil with brown or yellow tints. This highly unstable oil could be refined using the following steps.

Bleaching

Bleaching removes colour pigments like chlorophyll and lutein using acidified activated earth at an elevated temperature. This is followed by filtration and a spectrophotometer may be used to monitor the bleaching process by measuring the optical density of the oil. Losses as high as 5% may be encountered here.

Deodorising

Deodorising is required to remove objectionable flavours/odours, which may develop during bleaching by using steam distillation. This is done under vacuum at elevated temperatures. Again losses as high as 7% may be incurred here.

Winterising

The presence of high melting components in the oil makes it cloudy at low temperatures. These components tend to crystallize at low temperatures and must be removed. Winterising aid like oxystearin is used to help the formation of larger crystals, which could then be removed via decanting and filtration.

Alkali Refining

The refining process involves the use of a strong alkali (eg. NaOH) to remove free fatty acids and peroxides. Both compounds tend to reduce the shelf life of the oil and also give it a rancid smell. This tedious process may result in losses as high as 7% - 8% (Human, 1987; Eyres *et al.*, 2006). Nicolisi & Orthoefer (2004) reported that a patent (6, 197, 357) was awarded for the replacement of NaOH with Na2CO₃ or NaHCO₃ which resulted in a refining process that retained more than 85% of the phenolic compounds. These healthy compounds are usually lost with the unsaponifiable fraction of the oil during the refining process when NaOH is used.

Another method for refining is by heating the oil under vacuum at elevated temperatures, and sparged with live steam causing the free fatty acids to be distilled off refined oil is pale yellow, bland, and highly stable. It is highly suitable for general purpose cooking because of its high smoke point and has a healthy fatty acid composition. It is most suited for barbeques as most common vegetable oil polymerize and oxidize readily on hot surfaces.

2.8. Effect of Processing on the Quality of Oil

The phenolic compounds which are well publicized for their health benefits are lost or destroyed by most processing methods. Extra virgin oil loses its highly beneficial micronutrients during the refining process and the cholesterol lowering and anti-oxidant properties are significantly reduced as a result (Nicolisi& Orthoefer, 2004). The colour or chlorophyll content of the oil is noticeably lower than that of virgin oil due to the removal of these plant compounds (Eyres *et al.*, 2006).

The cold pressing and supercritical fluid methods appear to be the most suitable and beneficial methods to extract the avocado oil. Both utilise low temperatures, which help retain the healthful composition of the oil, involves minimal processing and requires less capital investment.

REFERENCES

- 1. AGRIANUAL: Anuário da Agricultura Brasileira. São Paulo: FNP Consultoria e AgroInformativos, 2016. P. 496.
- 2. Ames, B. Dietary carcinogens and anticarcinogens: Oxygen radicals and degenerative diseases. Science. 1983;221:1256–1263.
- 3. Andrikopolous, N. K. 1989. The Tocopherol Content of Greek Olive Oils. Journal of The Science of Food and Agriculture. 46, 503-509.
- Appelboom T., Schuermans J., Verbruggen G., Henrotin Y., Reginster J. Y. Symptoms modifying effect of avocado/soybean unsaponifiables (ASU) in knee osteoarthritis. A double blind, prospective, placebo-controlled study. Scand. J. Rheumatol. 2001;30(4):242–247. [PubMed]
- 5. Arima, H.K. Tango, J.S. Caracterização do óleo de abacate obtido por diferentes processos de extração. Boletim do Instituto de Tecnologia de Alimentos, Campinas, v. 22, n. 2, p.267-284, abr. 1985.
- Arpaia, M.; Jacman, C.R; Woolf, A; White, A; Thompson, J.F; Slaughter, D.S. 2006. Avcoado Postharvest Quality. Proc. California Avoado ResearchSymposium. P. 143-155.
- 7. Arts I. C. W and Hollman P. C. H. 2005. Polyphenols and disease risk in epidemiologic disease. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2005;8:317S–25S.[PubMed]
- Au R. Y., Al-Talib T. K., Au A. Y., Phan P. V., Frondoza C. G. Avocado soybean unsaponifiables (ASU) suppress TNF-alpha. IL-1 beta, COX-2, iNOS gene expression, and prostaglandin E2 and nitric oxide production in articular chondrocytes and monocyte/ macrophages. Osteoarthr. Cartilage. 2007;15(11):1249–1255. [PubMed]
- 9. Berenbaum F. Signaling transduction: Target in osteoarthritis. Curr. Opin. Rheumatol. 2004;16(5):616–622. [PubMed]
- 10.Bizimana, V; Breene, W.M. &Csallany, A .S. 1993. Avocado Oil Extraction with appropriate technology for developing countries. Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society, 70 (7), p. 821-822.
- 11.Blotman F., Maheu E., Wulwik A., Caspard H., Lopez A. Efficacy and safety of avocado/soybean unsaponifiables in the treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the knee and hip. A prospective, multicenter, three-month, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Rev. Rheum. Engl. Ed. 1997;64(12):825– 834. [PubMed]
- 12.Botha, M.B. 2004. Supercritical fluid extraction of avocado oil. South African Avocado Growers Association Yearbook, p. 27:24-27.
- Caepentier S., Knausi M., Suhi M. Associations between lutein, zeaxanthin, and age-related macular degeneration: An overview. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 2009; p. 49:313–326.

- 14.Chairman, D.S., Chairman, M., Dawson, T., Delaney, B., Fine, J., Flickinger, B., Friedman, P., Heckel, C., Hughes, J., Kincs, F., Liu, L., McBrayer, T., McCaskill, D., McNeill, G., Nugent, M., Paladini, E., Rosegrant, P., Tiffany, T., Wainwright, B., Wilken, J. 2006. FOOD FATS AND OILS. Ninth edition. P.7.8.
- 15.Chong M. F. F., Macdonald R., Lovegrove J. A. Fruit polyphenols and CVD risk: A review of human intervention studies. Br. J. Nutr. 2010;104:S28– S39. [PubMed]
- 16.Christensen R., Bartels E. M., Astrup A., Bliddal H. Symptomatic efficacy of avocado-soybean unsaponifiables (ASU) in osteoarthritis (OA) patients: A metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Osteoarthr. Cartilage. 2008;16(4):399– 408.[PubMed]
- Ding H., Han C., Guo D., Chin Y. W., Ding Y., Kinghorn A. D., D'Ambrosio S. M. Selective induction of apoptosis of human oral cancer cell lines by avocado extracts via a ROS-mediated mechanism. Nutr. Cancer. 2009; p. 61:348–356.
- 18.Dinubile N. A. A potential role for avocado-and soybean-based nutritional supplementation in the management of osteoarthritis: A review. Phys. Sportsmen. 2010; p. 38(2):71–81.
- 19.Ernst E. Avocado-soybean unsaponifiables (ASU) for osteoarthritis—A systematic review. Clin. Rheumatol. 2003;22(4–5):285–288. [PubMed]
- 20.Eyres, L.; Sherpa, N; Hendriks, G. 2006. Avocado Oil- A new edible Oil from Australasia. Institute of Food, Nutrition and Human Health, Massey University, New Zealand.
- 21.FAO (Food and Agriculture Organisation), 2018. FAO-STAT. Available from: http://faostat3.fao.org/home/index.html.
- 22. Fukuzawa, K. et al. Rate constants for quenching singlet oxygen and activities for inhibiting lipid peroxidation of carotenoids and α -tocopherol in liposomes. Lipids, v. 33, p. 751-756, 1998. PMid:9727604.
- 23.Ghosh D., Scheepens D. Vascular action of polyphenols. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 2009;53(3):322–331. [PubMed]
- 24. Góes, P. S. A. O. Papel da Petrobras na produção de Biodiesel: Perspectivas de produção e distribuição do biodiesel de mamona. 180f. Dissertação (Mestrado em Engenharia Ambiental) Departamento de energia ambiental, Universidade da Bahia, Salvador, 2006.
- 25.Grundy, S.M. 1988. Comparison of Monounsaturated Fatty Acids and Carbohydrates for Reducing Raised Levels of Plasma Cholesterol in Man. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 47, 965-969.
- 26.Helmick C. G., Felson D. T., Lawrence R. C. National Arthritis Data Workgroup. Estimates of the prevalence of arthritis and other rheumatic conditions in the United States Part I. Arthritis Rheum. 2008; p.58(1):15–25.

- 27.Henroitin Y. E., Deberg M. A., Crielaard J. M., Piccardi N., Msika P., Sanchez C. Avocado/soybean unsaponifiables prevent the inhibitory effect of osteoarthritis subchondral osteoblasts on aggrecan and type II collagen synthesis by chondrocytes. J. Rheumatol. 2006;33(8):1666–1678. [PubMed]
- 28.Hicks, K. B.; Moreau, R. A. Phytosterols and phytostanols: functional food cholesterol busters. Food Technology, v. 50, p. 63-67, 2001.
- 29.Human, T. P. 1987. Oil as a by-product of Avocado. South African Avocado Growers Association Yearbook, 10. 159-164.
- 30.InternationalOliveCouncil(IOC).2015.http://www.internationaloliveoil.org/(COI/T.15/NC No 3/Rev.8 February 2015).
- 31.Jones D. P., Coates R. J., Flagg E. W., Eley J. W., Block G., Greenberg R. S., Gunter E. W., Jackson B. Glutathione in foods listed in the NCI's health habits and history food frequency questionnaire. Nutr. Cancer. 1992;17(1):57–75.
- 32.Kaiser, C.; Wolstenholme, B.N. Aspects of delayed harvest of "Hass" avocado(Persea Americana Mill.) fruit in a cool subtropical climate. I Fruit lipid and fatty acid accumulation. J. Hort. Sci. 1994, p. 69, 437–445.
- 33.Kamal-Eldin, A.; Appelqvist, L. A. The Chemistry and Antioxidant Properties of Tocopherols And Tocotrienols. Lipids, v. 31, p. 671-701, 1996. PMid:8827691. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ BF02522884.
- 34.Koller, O. C. Abacaticultura. Porto Alegre: UFRGS, 1992. P.138.
- 35.Law, M. R. Plant sterol and stanol margarines and healt. British Medical Journal, v. 320, 2000.
- 36.Lequesne M., Maheu E., Cadet C., Dreiser R. L. Structural effect of avocado/soybean unsaponifiables on joint space loss in osteoarthritis of the hip. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;47(1):50–58.[PubMed]
- 37.Lewis, C.E. Maturity of avocados—general review. J. Sci. Food Agr. (1978), 29, 857–866.
- 38.Lipiello L., Nardo J. V., Harlan R., Chiou T. Metabolic effects of avocado/soy unsaponifiables on articular chondrocytes. Evid. Based Complement Alternat. Med. 2008;5(2):191–197.[PMC free article] [PubMed]
- 39.Lozano, Y. F., Mayer, C. D., Bannon, C., &Gaydou, E. M. (1993). Unsaponifiable matter, total sterol and tocopherol contents of avocado oil varieties. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 70(6), 561-565. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02545319.
- 40.Lucchesi, A.A. 1975 Evolução do teor de óleo em frutos de cultivares de abacateiro (Persea americana, Miller), em diferentes regiões do Estado de São Paulo. Tese de Doutoramento. E.S.A. "Luiz de Queiroz". Piracicaba.
- 41.Maheu E., Mazières B., Valat J. P. Symptomatic efficacy of avocado/soybean unsaponifiables in the treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee and hip: A prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter clinical

trial with a six-month treatment period and a two-month followup demonstrating a persistent effect. Arthritis Rheum. 1998;41(1):81–91. [PubMed]

- 42. Maranca, G. Fruticultura comercial manga e abacate. São Paulo: Nobel, 1980.
- 43.Menezes, M. L. 2009. Biodiesel de abacate. 05 de junho de 2009. Agência FAPESP. P1. http://agencia.fapesp.br/biodiesel_de_abacate/10601/
- 44.Morganti P., Bruno C., Guarneri F., Cardillo A., Del Ciotto P., Valenzano F. Role of topical and nutritional supplement to modify the oxidative stress. Inter J. Cosmetics Sci. 2002; p.24:331–339.
- 45.Morganti P., Fabrizi G., Bruno C. Protective effects of oral antioxidants on skin and eye function. Skinmed. 2004;3(6):310–316.
- 46.Murcia, M. A.; Jiménez, A. M.; Martínez-Tomé, M. Evaluation of the antioxidant properties of Mediterranean and tropical fruits compared with common food additives. Journal of Food Protection, v. 64, p. 2037-2046, 2001. PMid:11770635.
- 47.Nicolosi, R; &Orthoefer, F. 2004. Biological Activity of Micro-nutrients in Vegetable Oils: Impact of Oil Processing. United States, AOCS Archives.
- 48.Nolan J.M., Meagher K., Kashani S., Beatty S. What is meso-zeaxanthin, and where does it come from? Eye. 2013;27:899–905. doi: 10.1038/eye.2013.98. [PMC free article] [PubMed] [CrossRef]
- 49.Oliveira, C. C. S., Oliveira, G. S. N., Sousa, R. I. L., Sousa, R. M. D., Pineli, L. L. O. Avaliação das características sensoriais de polpada de abacate. In: Simpósio Internacional de Iniciação Científica da Universidade de São Paulo, 2., 2003, Piracicaba. Anais... São Paulo: USP, 2003. 1 CD-ROON.
- 50.Paniagua J. A., de la Sacristana A. G., Romero I., Vidal-Puig A., Latre J. M., Sanchez E., Perez-Matinez P., Lopez-Miranda J., Perez-Junenez F. Monounsaturated fat-rich diet prevents central body fat distribution and decreases postprandial adiponectin expression induced by a carbohydrate-rich diet in insulin-resistant subjects. Diabetes Care. 2007a;30:1717–1723.[PubMed]
- 51.Paniagua J. A., de la Sacristana A. G., Sanchez E., Romero I., Vidal-Puig A., Berral F. J., Escribano A., Moyano M. J., Perez-Matinez P., Lopez-Miranda J., Perez-Junenez F. A MUFA-rich diet improves postprandial glucose, lipid and GLP-1 responses in insulin-resistant subjects. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 2007b;26(5):434–444. [PubMed]
- 52.Requejo-Tapia, C. International Trends in Fresh Avocado and Avocado Oil Production and Seasonal. Variation of Fatty Acids in New Zealand-grown cv. Hass. Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand, 1999, p.212.
- 53.Roberts R. L., Green J., Lewis B. Lutein and zeaxanthin in eye and skin health. Clin. Dermatol. 2009; p.27:195–201.
- 54.Schuler, P. Natural Antioxidants Exploited Commercially. In: Hudson, B. J. F. (Ed.). Food Antioxidants. New York: Elsevier Science Publishers Ltd., 1990. p. 99 171.
- 55. Sionek, R., 1997. Uwaga na Miniarke. OwoceWarzywaKwiaty, 10: 14.
- 56.Swisher, H. E. 1988. Avocado Oil. From Food Use to Skin Care. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society. Vol. 65. 11.
- 57. Tango, J. S. and Turatti, J. M. Óleo de abacate. In: Teixeira, C. G. et al. Abacate: cultura, matéria-prima, processamento e aspectos econômicos. Campinas: ITAL, 1992.
- 58. Teixeira, J.; Shogiro Tango, J.; Turatti, J; Bleinroth, E.G; Castro, J; Teixeira, T. C.; Castro, J.; Barbero, J. L.; Leite, R. E.; Castro, A. Abacate: cultura, matéria-prima, processamento e 78 aspectos econômicos. 2. ed. ver. E ampl. Campinas: ITAL, 1992. (Série frutas tropicais, n. 8).
- 59. Tentolouris N., Arapostathi C., Perrea D., Kyriaki D., Revenas C., Katsilambros N. Differential effects of two isoenergetic meals rich in saturated or monounsaturated fat on endothelial function in subjects with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:2276–2278. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- 60. Turatti, J. M.; Canto, W. L. 1985. Insaponificáveis do Óleo de Abacate. BoletimITAL, v. 22, n. 3.
- 61.U.S Food and Drug Administration (FDA). 1976. Avocado Oil. Product Formulation Data.
- 62.Unlu N., Bohn T., Clinton S. K., Schwartz S. J. Carotenoid absorption from salad and salsa by humans is enhanced by the addition of avocado or avocado oil. J. Nutr. 2005;135:431–436.[PubMed]
- 63.USDA (U.S. Department of Agriculture). (2011). Avocado, almond, pistachio and walnut Composition. Nutrient Data Laboratory. USDA National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Release 24. U.S. Department of Agriculture. Washington, DC.
- 64. Uzytku, Z.B.P. & Higieny, P. Z. 1997. Cold Processed Oil. NCBI.
- 65. Victor V. M., Rocha M., Sola E., Banuls C., Garcia-Malpartida K., Hernandez-Mijeres A. 2009. Oxidative stress, endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis. Current Pharma. Design. 2009;15:2988–3002. [PubMed]
- 66.Werman, M. J. and Neeman, I. 1987. Avocado Oil Production and ChemicalCharacteristics. Journal of American Oil Chemists' Society. 64, 2. 229-232.
- 67.Wong M., Requejo-Jackman C., Woolf A.B. 2010. What is unrefined extra virgin cold-pressed avocado oil? J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 87:1099.
- 68. Wong, M; Requejo, C; Mcghie, T; Wang,Y; Eyres, L; Woolf, A. 2006. Recent Research on the Health Components in Cold Pressed Avocado Oil. Avocado talk. P. 460-461.

- 69.Woolf, A.B; Ferguson, I.B; Requejo-Tapia, L.C; Boyd, L; & White, A. 1999. Impact of Sun Exposure on Harvest Quality of Hass Avocado Fruit. RevistaChapingoSerieHorticultura. P. 5: 353-358.
- 70.Wu X., Beecher G. R., Holden J. M., Haytowitz D. B., Prior R. L. Lipophilic and hydrophilic antioxidant capacity of common foods in the U.S. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2004;52:4026–4037.[PubMed]
- 71.Wu X., Gu L., Holden J., Haytowitz D. B., Gebhardt S. E., Beecher G. R., Prior R. L. Development of a database for total antioxidant capacity in foods: A preliminary study. J. Food. Comp. Anal. 2007;17:407–422.
- 72.Xiao, J.B; Chen, J. W; Xu, M. 2006. Supercritical fluid CO2 extraction of essential oil from Marchantia convolute: global yields and extracts chemical composition. Electronic Journal of Biotechnology, 10 (1).
- 73. Yamanishi, O.K. 2011. Avocado Production Chain In State of São Paulo.University of Brasília, Faculty of Agriculture and Veterinary, Fruit Section. In World Avocado Congress. Cairns, Australia. 5 – 9 September 2011. P9.
- 74. Yong L. C., Petersen M. R., Sigurdson A. J., Sampson L. A., Ward E. M., Sampson L. A. 2009. High density antioxidant intakes are associated with decreased chromosome translocation frequency in airline pilots. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2009;90:1402–1410.
- 75.Zarrabal, O. C., Hipolito, C. N., Uscanga, M. G.A., Santiesteban, G. M., Jones, P. M. H., and Dermitz, D. M. B. (2014). Avocado Oil Supplementation Modifies Cardiovascular Risk Profile Markers in a Rat Model of Sucrose-Induced Metabolic Changes. Journal List. Dis Markers.v.2014: 386425.

3. HYPOTHESES

- Is it better to extract avocado oil immediately after harvest, as the olives, or wait?
- Are the content of avocado dry matter and oil going to change after harvest during storage?
- What is the fatty acid composition of avocado oil for *Hass*, *Breda* and *Margarida*cultivars at six storage period including rejected fruits due to long storage period at room temperature (25±5°C)?
- ➢ Is it possible to make use of rejected avocado fruits?
- Is it possible to extract avocado oil in a new methodology unlike the methods used commercially in mean of without usage of (enzyme, supercritical CO2, acid hydrolysis, alkaline, solvent, heating, or add water)?
- Are there differences in the quantitative and qualitative characteristics of the oil of different varieties of avocado grown in Brazil During different harvesting time to determine the proper harvesting time to extract oil?
- > Are selected cultivars optimal to extract oil?
- 4. JUSTIFICATION:

Avocado oil is definitely a more productive use of the fruit. It can act as a local substitute for imported vegetable oil and as an export item both as a cooking oil and as a raw material for cosmetic and pharmaceutical products. The production of avocado oil is therefore an excellent option for making value added products from this wasted produce which has high economic value due to its highly healthy composition, and to extract the two main raw materials of biodiesel: oil (pulp) and ethanol (biofuel) (the seed).

5. EXPERIMENT I

CHANGES IN DRY MATTER, OIL CONTENT AND FATTY ACID OF AVOCADO DURING STORAGE

Abstract

Changes in dry matter and oil contents in the fruit of three avocado (*Persea americana* Mill.) cultivars: 'Hass', 'Breda' and 'Margarida' were measured during the storage period. In mid-October 2014, avocado fruits were harvested according to the Tsuge Farm picking standard in Rio Paranaíba city, Minas Gerais State, Brazil. Samples were kept at room temperature $(25\pm5^{\circ}C)$ for 22 days and content of dry matter and oil were measured six times at different time intervals. The dry matter content in 'Hass' and 'Breda' increased from 34.1 to 45.2% and from 29.6 to 32.9%, respectively during storage. Oil content increased significantly from 20.5 to 35.7% in 'Hass' and from 14.3 to 25.7% in 'Breda'. On the other hand, oil content in 'Margarida' fluctuated during storage. Oleic (51.2/60.1/55.9%), palmitic (21.8/22.8/26.9%), linoleic (13.6/9.7/13.2%) and palmitoleic (13.1/7.0/3.0%) acids were the major fatty acids observed in 'Hass', 'Breda' and 'Margarida', respectively and their content significantly changed during storage.

Keywords: avocado, 'Hass', 'Breda', 'Margarida', fatty acid composition, ripening

5.1. INTRODUCTION

Avocado (*Persea americana* Mill.) fruit is very much appreciated, and it occupies a prominent place in the market due to its high nutritional value, especially fibers and lipids. Vegetable oils are the major source of edible lipids, which are consumed all over the world. They are extracted either from the endosperm of the oil seeds or from the pericarp of oil fruits, mainly palm and olive. Another important oil fruit is avocado. The avocado tree is a fruit plant that originated in the Americas, especially Mexico and Central America, belonging to the *Lauraceae* family (Maranca, 1980; Koller, 1992).

It is one of the most productive plants per unit of cultivated area. A large number of avocado cultivars are found in different regions of Brazil, whose fruits have varied chemical composition, especially in terms of levels of lipids in the pulp. Fruits with high levels of lipids in the pulp can be important raw material for oil extraction (Teixeira et al., 1991).

Mexico is the country that leads the production of avocado in the world; Brazil is the third largest world producer. However, the state of São Paulo is the largest domestic producer, accounting for more than 50% of the production. The state of Minas Gerais is the second , followed by Paraná and Espírito Santo (Agrianual, 2009).

Avocados are nutrient-dense fruits, high in unsaturated fats, fiber, niacin, folate, lutein, potassium, iron, and vitamins B6, C, E, and K (USDA-ARS, 2008). The oil quality is beneficial to cardiovascular health, with about 65 to 75% monounsaturated fatty acids (oleic and palmitoleic) and 10 to 15% polyunsaturated fatty acids (linoleic) (Ozdemir and Topuz, 2004). Avocado cultivars and maturity vary widely in fruit oil content, from 5 to >30% (Woolf et al., 2004).

Avocado oil content is highly correlated to fruit dry matter content (Lee et al., 1983). As fruit matures, the percentage of dry matter increases, as does the oil content; however, there is cultivar-to-cultivar variation in this relationship. The percentage of dry matter content has become the predominant maturity index for avocado harvesting, but it must be cultivar-specific (Bower and Cutting, 1988; Hofman et al., 2013; Lee et al., 1983). California, Australia, and Brazil also use the percentage of dry matter content as an indirect measure to determine oil content, and hence maturity, for different cultivars (Lee and Coggins, 1982; Woolf et al., 2004).

Various factors are known to affect the oil content of fruits including; cultivar, maturity stage, location and growth conditions.

Identification of horticultural maturity is difficult for many fruits, especially avocado, because maturation is not accompanied by changes in external appearance. Moreover, mature avocado fruit do not ripen on the tree, but soften several days after being picked (Cox et al., 2004).

The objective of this study was to analysis the effect of the storage periods on the contents of avocado; such as dry matter, oil content and fatty acids. The findings of this work will help the farmer and industrialist to understand the accurate time of fruit storage and oil extraction.

5.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

5.2.1. MATERIALS

This investigation was carried out at Tsuge Farm,in Rio Paranaíba, in Minas Gerais State (MG), Brazil. The located at Lat. $19^{\circ} 25' 33''S$; Long. $46^{\circ} 15' 37'' W$. Altitude (11080m over sea level). By Köppen's classification the climate of the region is Aw type in transition to Cwb, with average annual minimum temperature of 11.0 ° C. The mean annual temperature (MAT) averaged 21.1°C, mean annual maximum temperature of 22.3 ° C and total annual precipitation of 2713.65 mm. (PIRES; YAMANISH, 2014).Mature avocado trees on ten to twelve years old of three cultivars; Hass, Breda and Margarida. The trees were spaced 8 m X 6 m; not irrigated and received routine horticultural care (standard pest, disease &fertilizer programs). Avocados are harvested by hand from the trees. The mean yield (17.5/ 30/ 35)tone of fruit per hectare for Hass, Breda and Margarida cultivars respectively.

Three avocado cultivars: 'Hass', 'Breda' and 'Margarida' (*Persea americana* Mill.) were used in this experiment. Mature avocado fruits were harvested on October 17th, 2014 after 12 months from flowering, and stored at room temperature ($25\pm5^{\circ}$ C) for 22 days. During that time, analyses were carried out on the 5th, 8th, 12th, 15th, 19th and 22nd days of the storage period; the seed of the fruits were removed before analysis. All the experiments were conducted in triplicates.

5.2.2. METHODS

5.2.2.1. Dry matter contents

Dry matter content was determined by drying the samples at 40°C (5-6 days) to a constant mass. And Fresh weight of fruit was determined.

5.2.2.2. Oil content

Dry pulp oil content was determined by Soxhlet extraction, using hexane as described by IUPAC (1979) method 1.122. Oil content was expressed on a fresh weight basis.

5.2.2.3. Fatty acid composition of the extracted oil

Fatty acids were transformed into methyl esters (FAME) according to the method described by IOC (2001) and were determined using gas chromatograph: Shimadzu GCMS-QP2010 equipped with a flame ionization detector (FID).

5.2.2.4. Statistical analysis

The obtained data were statistically analyzed. Analysis of variance and Duncan multiple range test were performed using SAS to evaluate the significance of differences between values at the level of P<0.05. RCB design was used for statistical analysis.

5.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 4 shows that the dry matter in 'Hass' was increased during storage period (6 periods) from 34.1% in the first time of storage to 45.2%. That increase was at a rate of 32.4% over 22 days of storage. In a similar way, the oil content increased from 20.5 to 35.7% in the fresh pulp. This increase was at a rate of 42.6%.

Table 4. Fruit weight and changes in the oil content and dry matter of 'Hass' at six storage periods.									
		Storage period (days)							
	5th	8th	12th	15th	19th	22nd			
Fruit weight (g)	255a	265a	270a	230a	170b	210ab			
Oil content (%)	20.5a	21.06a	23.04a	30.63b	32.35b	35.72c			
Dry matter (%)	34.12a	33.33a	32.18a	35.62b	37.93c	45.16d			
Means within a row followed by the same letter were not significantly different (P<0.05 by Duncan's									
multiple range test).									

Similar results were found in 'Breda' (Table 5), the dry matter increased from 29.6 to 32.9% at a rate of 11.1%. In a similar way, oil content was increased from 14.3 to 25.7% in fresh pulp, at an increase rate of 79.6%. As it can be seen in Table 4, changes in oil content were parallel to changes in dry matter for both 'Hass' and 'Breda'. These results are consistent with Lee et al. (1983).

Table 5. Fruit weight and changes in the oil content and dry matter of 'Breda' at six storage periods.									
		Storage period (days)							
	5th	8th	12th	15th	19th	22nd			
Fruit weight (g)	510a	520a	500a	480a	435b	455b			
Oil content (%)	14.31a	17.35b	19.14b	19.99b	23.66c	25.71d			
Dry matter (%)	29.63a	27.63a	31.25b	33.77b	33.33b	32.88b			
Means within a row followed by the same letter were not significantly different (P<0.05 by Duncan's									
multiple range test).									

In the case of 'Margarida', Table 6 show that more oil content was found with less fruit weight. Moreover, the percentage of dry matter in 'Margarida' was: 22.0, 21.4, 25.8, 23.3, 19.7 and 17.4% during the six-storage period. Fruit oil content changed irregularly (increase and decrease) during storage period.

Table 6. Fruit weight and changes in the oil content and dry matter of 'Margarida' at six storage periods.								
		Storage period (days)						
	5th	8th	12th	15th	19th	22nd		
Fruit weight (g)	565a	655bd	575a	540a	690d	635b		
Oil content (%)	15.21ac	8.79b	16.85c	15.09a	9.32b	8.24b		
Dry matter (%)	21.98a	21.43a	25.77b	23.33c	19.67d	17.43e		
Means within a row followed by the same letter were not significantly different (P<0.05 by Duncan's multiple range test).								

The fatty acids composition of avocado oils of 'Hass', 'Breda' and 'Margarida' during six storage periods is shown in Table 7. Oleic acid was the principal fatty acid in all oils during the six storage periods (53.3-49.9/60.1-59.4/55.9-45.3%), followed by palmitic (22.1-19.3/23.2-19.9/27.0-22.4%), linolitic (13.6-17.7/9.7-14.6/13.2-26.4%), and palmitoleic (13.1-10.0/7.3-4.6/3.0-2.1%) acids were found to be major fatty acids, respectively, in avocado oil of 'Hass', 'Breda' and 'Margarida'. The fatty acid composition of avocado oil depends upon the cultivar, stage of ripening, the geographical growth location and different sample processing (Ahmed and Barmore, 1980; Bora et al., 2001; Moreno et al., 2003). These main fatty acids compositions agreed with previous studies (Jorge, 2014; Haiyan et al., 2007; Moreno et al., 2003; Yanty et al., 2013). Stearic acid was also determined to be present in small amounts in some periods and not present in other storage periods in 'Hass' and 'Margarida', while it was not presented in all periods of storage in 'Breda'. As well as linolenic acid, this was also determined to be present in small amounts in some storage periods and was not presented in other storage periods in all studied cultivars. Based on the linoleic and linolenic acid contents in the oils of the three avocado cultivars, it can be concluded that these cultivars are rich sources of these ω -3 and ω -6 fatty acids, which could contribute towards the daily needs of an adult, which is around 0.8 to 4.0 g (World Health Organization & Food and Agriculture Organization, 2003). Other researchers (Brasil, 1971; Bora et al., 2001; Frega et al., 1990; Martinez Nieto et al., 1988; Moreno et al., 2003; Ratovohery et al., 1988; Salgado et al., 2008; Tango et al., 1972, 2004; Villa-Rodríguez et al., 2011; Dreher and Davenport, 2013) have also reported oleic acid as the major fatty acid, followed by palmitic, linolenic, and palmitoleic acids in the pulp of 'Collinson', 'Barker', 'Fortuna', 'Lula', 'Bacon', 'Fuerte', 'Zutano', 'Hass', and 'Margarida' avocado fruit.

Table 7. The fatty acid composition expressed as % of avocado oil (Hass, Breda, Margarida) at six									
storage perio	ods.								
Fatty acids	cultivars		Storage period (days) Average						
		5 th	8 th	12 th	15 th	19 th	22 nd		
Palimitic	Hass	21.8a	22.1a	19.28b	20.9c	21.78a	21.67a	21.26	
acid	Breda	22.8a	20.26b	19.91b	20.07b	23.20c	20.18b	21.07	
(C16:0)	Margarida	26.9a	23.99b	26.99a	26.99a	22.37c	24.49d	25.29	
Palmitoleic	Hass	13.10a	11.30b	10.01c	10.22c	12.87a	12.49a	11.67	
acid	Breda	7.00a	5.92b	4.55c	5.09c	7.33a	4.61c	5.75	
(C16:1)	Margarida	3a	2.99a	2.3b	2.59ab	2.1b	2.44ab	2.57	
Stearic	Hass	0.18a	nde	nde	nde	0.06b	0.28c	0.09	
acid	Breda	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	0.00	
(C18:0)	Margarida	1a	ndb	ndb	ndb	ndb	ndb	0.17	
Oleic acid	Hass	51.2a	50.40ac	53.33b	51.17a	49.88cd	49.22d	50.87	
(C18:1)	Breda	60.10ab	59.87ab	60.95a	61.07a	59.37b	60.87a	60.37	
	Margarida	55.9a	53.49b	51.53c	50.33d	47.28e	45.26f	50.63	
Linoleic	Hass	13.60a	16.19b	17.39c	17.71c	15.26d	15.99d	16.02	
acid	Breda	9.70a	14.44b	14.58b	13.77b	9.94a	14.34b	12.80	
(C18:2)	Margarida	13.2a	19.24b	19.18b	22.84c	26.39d	26.19d	21.17	
Linolenic	Hass	0.12a	ndc	ndc	ndc	0.14a	0.33b	0.10	
acid	Breda	0.40a	ndc	ndc	ndc	0.15b	ndc	0.09	
(C18:3)	Margarida	nde	0.28a	nde	nde	1.86b	1.61c	0.63	
The means for	ollowed by th	e different l	etters in the	same row a	re significan	tly different	(p<0.05 by	Duncan's	
multiple rang	multiple range test); nd: not detected.								

During six storage periods within 22 days, the percentage of some fatty acids showed a significant change. In contrast, there were no significant differences in the percentage of other fatty acids. The highest level of oleic is owned by 'Breda' (61.1-59.4%) followed by 'Margarida' (55.9-45.3%) and 'Hass' (53.3-49.2%). While, the highest level of palmitic is owned by 'Margarida' (27.0-23.0%) followed by 'Breda' (23.2-19.9%) and 'Hass' (22.1-19.3%).

No clear trend was found for most of the fatty acids. There was a rapid increase in the percentage of linoleic acid in 'Hass' from 13.6% in 5th to 17.7% in 15th at the maximum increase rate of 30.2%, and then a decrease was observed in 19th to 15.3%, then a slight increase at the rate of 4.8% in the last storage period. In contrast, palmitoleic acid decreased from 13.1% in 5th to 10.0% in 12th, and then a slight increase was observed in 15th at a rate of 2.1% followed by more increase in 19th at a rate of (25.9%). The maximum value of oleic acid was at 53.3% in 12th, while the minimum at 49.2% in the last period of storage. There was also an irregular decrease and increase in the percentage of palmitic acid during six storage periods.

In 'Breda' palmitoleic and linoleic acid in particular, showed significant decrease and increase during storage period when compared with its initial value. The percentage of palmitoleic acid was decreased by 34.1% from first to the last period of storage for 22 days; in contrast the percentage of linoleic acid increased by 47.8% from first to the last period of storage. While oleic acid showed a slight changes during storage period.

Oleic acid was the only fatty acid which decreased steadily from the first to the last storage period of 'Margarida', with percentages ranging from 55.9 to 45.3% at a decrease rate of 19.0%, while linoleic acid showed an opposite trend with an 98.4% increment from the first period to the last period of storage.

The total values of saturated fatty acids (SFA), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), polyunsaturated (PUFA), and unsaturated fatty acids (UFA) in addition to the MUFA/SFA, PUFA/SFA, and UFA/SFA ratios during storage for three cultivars are presented in Table 8. Avocado oil samples had high amounts of total unsaturated fatty acids during through storage period (22 days) i.e., 'Hass' (77.9-80.7%), 'Breda' (76.8-80.2%) and 'Margarida' (72.1-77.6%), respectively. 'Breda' and 'Hass' are found to be healthier than 'Margarida', as they had the highest MUFA:SFA ratio, (3.3-2.9/3.3-2.8) in 'Breda' and 'Hass', respectively while (2.4-2.0) in 'Margarida'.

Table 8. Saturated (SFA), monounsaturated (MUFA), polyunsaturated (PUFA), unsaturated fatty acids								
(UFA) profile (% of total fatty acids); MUFA/SFA, PUFA/SFA, and UFA/SFA mean value during of six storage periods from avocado fruit 'Hass' 'Breda' 'Margarida'								
Cultivars			Si Si	torage peri	od (days))		
	Fatty acids	5th	8th	12th	15th	19 th	22nd	average
	SFA	21.98	22.1	19.28	20.9	21.84	21.95	21.34
	MUFA	64.3	61.7	63.34	61.39	62.75	61.71	62.53
	PUFA	13.72	16.19	17.39	17.71	15.4	16.32	16.12
	UFA	78.02	77.89	80.73	79.1	78.15	78.03	78.65
	MUFAf/SFA	2.93	2.79	3.29	2.94	2.87	2.81	2.94
SS	PUFA/SFA	0.62	0.73	0.90	0.85	0.71	0.74	0.76
Ha	UFA/SFA	3.55	3.52	4.19	3.78	3.58	3.55	3.70
	SFA	22.8	20.26	19.91	20.07	23.2	20.18	21.07
	MUFA	67.1	65.79	65.5	66.16	66.7	65.48	66.12
	PUFA	10.1	14.44	14.58	13.77	10.09	14.34	12.89
	UFA	77.2	80.23	80.08	79.93	76.79	79.82	79.01
	MUFAf/SFA	2.94	3.25	3.29	3.30	2.88	3.24	3.15
pa	PUFA/SFA	0.44	0.71	0.73	0.69	0.43	0.71	0.62
Bre	UFA/SFA	3.39	3.96	4.02	3.98	3.31	3.96	3.77
	SFA	27.9	23.99	26.99	26.99	22.37	24.49	25.46
	MUFA	58.9	56.48	53.83	52.92	49.38	47.7	53.20
	PUFA	13.2	19.52	19.18	22.84	28.25	27.8	21.80
ła	UFA	72.1	76	73.01	75.76	77.63	75.5	75.00
aria	MUFAf/SFA	2.11	2.35	1.99	1.96	2.21	1.95	2.10
irgo	PUFA/SFA	0.47	0.81	0.71	0.85	1.26	1.14	0.87
РИ	UFA/SFA	2.58	3.17	2.71	2.81	3.47	3.08	2.97
SFA:(C16:0+	C18:0); MUSF:(C	16:1+C18:	1); PUFA:(C18:2+C1	8:3); UF	A:		
(C16:1+C18:	(C16:1+C18:1+C18:2+C18:3)							

Moreover, and from Tables 4 and 5, in general, it was noticed that there is no clear trend for fatty acid contents during storage periods. Also, there was no relation between molecular weight and degree of unsaturation, and the variations in these fatty acid contents with different storage periods, from different cultivars.

5.4. CONCLUSIONS

The highest value for dry matter and oil content was observed in 'Hass' followed by 'Breda', which make these cultivars more suitable for oil extraction, while the value was significantly lower in 'Margarida', although it is one of the most productive cultivars per unit area. Dry matter, oil content and the fatty acid composition of the oil changed differently with the avocado cultivars and storage period. The data is important to decide the proper storage period to extract oil with high quality and quantity.

5.5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors are highly acknowledge and most grateful for the Faculty of Agronomy and Veterinary Medicine (FAV), Faculty of Pharmacy, (UnB) for the laboratory equipment used for oil extraction and ITRC (Industrial Testing & Research Center) (Damascus) for conducting part of oil samples analysis and to Tsuge Farm and ABPA (Brazilian Avocado Growers Association) for the financial support.

5.6. REFERENCES

Agrianual. (2009). Anuário da Agricultura Brasileira (São Paulo: FNP Consultoria e AgroInformativos), pp.496.

Ahmed, E.M., and Barmore, C.R. (1980). Avocado. In Tropical and Subtropical Fruits: Composition, Properties and Uses, S. Nagy, and P.E. Shaw, eds. (Westport, CT, USA: AVI Publishing Inc.), p.121–156.

Bora, P.S., Narain, N., Rocha, R.V.M., and Paulo, M.Q. (2001). Characterization of the oils from the pulp and seeds of avocado (cultivar Fuerte) fruits. Grasas Aceites 52 (3-4), 171–174.

Bower, J.P., and Cutting, J.G. (1988). Avocado fruit development and ripening physiology. In Horticulture Reviews, Vol. 10, J. Janick, ed. (Portland, OR: Timber Press), p.229–271.

Brasil. Ministério do Interior . (1971). Contribuição ao Desenvolvimento da Agroindústria: Abacate, Mamona (Rio de Janeiro : Grupo Executivo de Irrigação para o Desenvolvimento Agrícola /Fundação Centro Tropical de Pesquisa e Tecnologia de Alimentos), pp.47.

Cox, K.A., McGhie, T.K., White, A., and Woolf, A.B. (2004). Skin colour and pigment changes during ripening of 'Hass' avocado fruit. Postharvest Biol. Technol. *31* (*3*), 287–294 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2003.09.008.

Dreher, M.L., and Davenport, A.J. (2013). Hass avocado composition and potential health effects. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 53 (7), 738–750 https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2011.556759. PubMed

Frega, N., Bocci, F., Lerker, G., and Bortolomeazzi, R. (1990). Lipid composition of some avocado cultivars. Ital. J. Food Sci. 2 (3), 197–204.

Haiyan, Z., Bedgood, D.R., Jr., Bishop, A.G., Jr., Prenzler, P.D., and Robards, K. (2007). Endogenous biophenol, fatty acid and volatile profiles of selected oils. Food Chem. *100* (*4*), 1544–1551 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem. 2005.12.039.

Hofman, P.J., Bower, J., Woolf, A., Schaffer, B., Wolstenholme, B.N., and Whiley, A.W. (2013). Harvesting, packing, postharvest technology, transport and processing. In The Avocado: Botany, Production and Uses, 2nd edn (CABI Publishing), p.489–540.

IOC. (2001). Preparation of the fatty acid methyl esters from olive oil and olive-pomace oil (International Olive Council), COI/T.20/Doc n24/ 2001.

IUPAC. (1979). Standard Methods for the Analysis of the Oils, Fats and Derivatives, 6th edn (Oxford: Pergamon Press).

Jorge, T.S. (2014). Avaliação reológica do óleo de abacate (*Persea americana* Mill.) e estudo da estabilidade sob condições de aquecimento e armazenamento à temperatura ambiente (São José do Rio Preto), p.43.

Koller, O.C. (1992). Abacaticultura (Porto Alegre: UFRGS), pp.138.

Lee, S.K., and Coggins, C.W. (1982). Dry weight method for determination of avocado fruit maturity. California Avocado Society Yearbook. *66*, 67–70.

Lee, S.K., Young, R.E., Schiffman, P.M., and Coggins, C.W. (1983). Maturity studies of avocado fruit based on picking dates and dry weight. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci. *108*, 390–394.

Maranca, G. (1980). Fruticultura Comercial Manga e Abacate (São Paulo).

Martinez Nieto, L., Camacho, R.F., Rodriguez, V.S., and Moreno, R.M.V. (1988). Extraction and characterization of avocado oil. Grasas Aceites *39*, 272–277.

Moreno, A.O., Dorantes, L., Galíndez, J., and Guzmán, R.I. (2003). Effect of different extraction methods on fatty acids, volatile compounds, and physical and chemical properties of avocado (*Persea americana* Mill.) oil. J. Agric. Food Chem. *51* (8), 2216–2221 https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0207934. PubMed

Ozdemir, F., and Topuz, A. (2004). Changes in dry matter, oil content and fatty acids composition of avocado during harvesting time and post harvesting ripening period. Food Chem. *86* (1), 79–83 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2003.08.012.

PIRES, M. C.; YAMANISHI, O. K. Girdling Combined With Paclobutrazol Boosted Yield of "Bengal" Lychee in Brazil. Acta Horticulturae, p. 189-195, 2014. Ratovohery, J.V., Lozano, Y.F., and Gaydou, E.M. (1988). Fruit development effect on fatty acid composition of Persea americana fruit mesocarp. J. Agric. Food Chem. *36* (2), 287–293 https://doi.org/10.1021/jf00080a012.

Salgado, J.M., Danieli, F., Regitano-D'Arce, M.A.B., Frias, A., and Mansi, D.N. (2008). O óleo de abacate (*Persea americana* Mill) como matéri a-prima para a indústria alimentícia . Food Sci. Technol. (Campinas) 28 (*Supl.*), 20–26 https://doi.org/10.1590/S0101-20612008000500004.

Tango, J.S., Costa, S.I., Antunes, A.J., and Figueiredo, I.B. (1972). Composition of fruit oil of different varieties of avocado grow in São Paulo . Fruits 27 (2), 143–146.

6. EXPERIMENT-II

A NEW METHODOLOGY FOR EXTRA-VIRGIN AVOCADO OIL EXTRACTION VERSUS TRADITIONAL PRODUCTION METHODS

Abstract

Avocado (Persea americana Mill) is an oil-rich highly nutritious fruit. The pulp contains up to 30% of the oil (based on fresh weight). The avocado fruit is mainly sold fresh on the market, which however trades also a relevant quantity of second-grade fruits with relatively high oil content. The avocado oil contains all the beneficial attributes of the fruit, which makes it a very valuable product. It contains high amounts of the anti-cholesterol agent beta-sitosterol, a wide variety of vitamins and antioxidants, and other plant chemicals, which impart beneficial functional properties on humans. However, there is no widespread commercial method for oil recovery from avocado pulp. Traditionally, this oil is extracted from dried fruits by means of organic solvents, but a mechanical method is also used in general in locations where drying systems and/or solvent extraction units cannot be installed. These traditional processes yield a grade of oil that needs subsequent refining and is mainly used in the cosmetic industry. The particularity of the present work in Brazil appears in the new extraction methodology used, without usage of (enzyme, supercritical CO₂, acid hydrolysis, alkaline, solvent, heating, or add water); it relies on the separation of oil using centrifugal and mixing alternatively. The extracted oil is of high quality; a nice and attractive clear yellow or green color is Extra-Virgin Avocado Oil (EVAO) as it does not need to be refined. The oil is 100% natural, as well as the solids and the liquid; it keeps original nutritive ingredients, resulting into oil with characteristics (fatty acids, color) similar to those of Virgin olive oils. This method is simple, economic, fast and environment friendly.

Keyword: Avocado, cold- centrifuge, extra virgin avocado oil (EVAO), Brazil.

6.1. INTRODUCTION

Avocado (*Persea americana Mill*) is an oil-rich highly nutritious fruit. The pulp contains up to 30% of the oil. The avocado oil contains all the beneficial attributes of the fruit, which makes it a very valuable product. It contains high amounts of the anti-cholesterol agent, beta-sitosterol, a wide variety of vitamins and antioxidants, and other fruit chemicals, which impart beneficial functional properties on humans. Commercially avocado oil is extracted from the flesh of the fruit, similar to olive oil extraction, with the additional of two steps which includes the removal of skin and seed. After this step, the flesh is ground to a paste and then malaxed (mixing) for 40-60 minutes at 45-50°C. This is a higher malaxing temperature than the one used with olive oil extraction, but it is still considered to be cold-pressed extraction for avocado oil. Traditionally this oil is extracted from dried fruits by means of organic solvents. These traditional processes yield a grade of oil that needs subsequent refining and is mainly used in the cosmetic industry. The first attempt to develop a method to produce cold-pressed oil intended to obtain high-quality edible oil was made back in the late 1990's by a New Zealand company in collaboration with Alfa Laval (Eyres et al., 2001).

6.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

Extraction of avocado oil by Cold- centrifuge

6.2.1. MATERIALS

This investigation was carried out at Tsuge Farm,in Rio Paranaíba, in Minas Gerais State (MG), Brazil. The located at Lat. $19^{\circ} 25' 33''S$; Long. $46^{\circ} 15' 37'' W$. Altitude (11080m over sea level). By Köppen's classification the climate of the region is Aw type in transition to Cwb, with average annual minimum temperature of 11.0 °C. The mean annual temperature (MAT) averaged 21.1°C, mean annual maximum temperature of 22.3 °C and total annual precipitation of 2713.65 mm. (PIRES; YAMANISH, 2014).Mature avocado trees on ten to twelve years old of five cultivars; Hass, Breda, Margarida, Quintal, Fortuna. The trees were spaced 8 m X 6 m; not irrigated (in rainfed conditions) and received routine horticultural care (standard pest, disease &fertilizer programs). Avocados are harvested by hand from the trees. The mean yield (17.5/ 30/ 35/ 30/ 30) tone of fruit per hectare for Hass, Breda, Margarida, Quintal and Fortuna cultivars respectively.

Five avocado (*Persea americana Mill.*) cultivars: *Hass, Breda, Margarida, Quintal,* and*Fortuna* were randomly selected from the avocado orchard (Tusge) Minas Gerais, Rio Paranaíbain Brazil, in mid-August 2015. Fruits were mature and healthy, free of disease. Samples were saved in the cooling room temperature 10°C humidity 85until maturity "can remove the shell by hand." avocado fruits as shown in table 10 (*Hass* 165- 315g; *Breda* 670-800g;*Quintal*965-1180g; *Margarida* 950-1215g; *Fortuna*890-1280g). Mixer for home use (blender) made in Brazil;

Centrifugal mark Jouan BR4 made in Japan;

GC/MS Shimadzu-QP2010 Plus made in Japan;

Balance made in Germany;

Test Tubes; Plastic pipette; Knife;

Soxhlet apparatus mark Carvalhaes made in Brazil;

Rotary evaporator model Heidolph made in Germany.

6.2.2. METHODS

6.2.2.1. Dry matter contents, weight of fruit. Seed, peel, pulp, moisture percentage and oil content were determined on the samples of fruit, prepared from six fruits of

each cultivar. Each fruit was cut into quarters, each quarter was cut into quarters, and the seed coat and peel removed 100%. Half the amount of pulp is placed in a blender to extract oil by cold-centrifugal. And the other half was placed in oven to extract oil by Soxhlet. Dry matter was determined by drying samples at 40 $^{\circ}$ C (5 - 6 days) to a constant mass.

6.2.2.2. Oil content: Oil content was determined by Soxhlet extraction, using Hexane as described by IUPAC (1979) method 1.122. The extraction solvent was removed by using rotary evaporator at 40 °C to recover the pulp oil. The oil was placed on a water bath at 50 °C for 2hours to ensure complete removal of residual solvent after which it was stored in a glass bottle, and the analysis was carried out on the freshly extracted pulp oils. An average of three replicates (triplicate) for each analysis were carried on. The oil content was calculated, then the percentage of oil yield.

6.2.2.3. Determination of fatty acid analysis: Fatty acid composition of avocado oil which extracted by centrifugal was determined as Fatty Acid Methyl Esters (FAMEs) according to the method described by IOC (2001) and were determined using gas chromatograph: Shimadzu GCMS-QP2010 equipped with a flame ionization detector (FID).

6.2.2.4. Statistical analysis: All analyses for parameters were carried out in triplicate and the results were expressed as the mean value \pm standard deviation for fatty acids by using SAS to evaluate the significance of differences between values at the level of P < 0.05.

6.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Design Process of cold-centrifuge:

The steps are as shown in table 9, and figure 4:

Fruit washing, destoning, deskinning and mash preparation. Whole fruits are washed to remove dust from the surface of the fruits and removed seeds and skin.

3.1.1. Crushing the pulp by using mixer for home use.

3.1.2. After crushing the pulp, the avocado mash is pumped into the centrifugal to separate and extract the oil. As seen in table (1) the optimal centrifuge time is 2-5 minutes two minutes for Hass and Breda cultivars, five minutes for Margarida, Quintal, and Fortuna cultivars. The temperature is 24°C to reach the best

organoleptic characteristics (odor, taste and color) of Extra Virgin Avocado Oils (EVAO). The rotation speed is continuously at 10,000 rpm.

- 3.1.3. Remove the oil.
- 3.1.4. Remove the liquid (if any).
- 3.1.5. Mix the mash paste (solids).
- 3.1.6. Re-use the centrifugal again to get more yield of oil.
- 3.1.7. Remove the oil and mix the mash (paste) again.

Repeat the following steps 10 times, alternatively, in sequence: centrifuge / oil removal / liquid removal / mixing the paste to separate more oil.

Hass cultivar, the percentage of dry matter as shown in table 10and it was (34%). We got 2-phase of separation - oil and solids. However, with the cultivar *Breda*, the percentage of dry matter was (30%). At first centrifuge, we got three phases: oil on the top, solids, and liquid. It was better to remove the oil from the top, after that the liquid was remove and the remaining solids were centrifuged again until all the oil was removed. While cultivars *Margarida, Quintal,* and *Fortuna*, had the percentage of dry matter of 28%. At first centrifuge, we got only two phases: liquid and solids. We needed to remove the liquid three times, after that the solids were mixedand centrifuges, then three phases were obtained: oil, liquid, and solids. It was better to remove the liquid when separate, and remove the oil alternately.

Ta	Table (9) steps and design process of cold-centrifugal for avocado oil extraction for cultivars (Hass, Breda, Margarida, Fortuna, and Quintal).								
	Avocado fruit Avocado fruit Avocado fruit								
	Hass	5	Breda	Margarida, Fortuna, and					
				Quintal					
1	Water wa	ashing	Water washing	Water washing					
_									
2	De-stoning ar	nd peeling	De-stoning and peeling	De-stoning and peeling					
	100%	0	100%	100%					
3	Crushing/ m	nalaxing	Crushing/ malaxing	Crushing/ malaxing					
4	Centrifugation 24°C		Centrifugation 24°C	Centrifugation 24°C					
	2minutes/10,000 rpm		2minutes/10,000 rpm	5minutes/10,000 rpm					
5	Solids	🔿 Oil	liquid ← solids ⇒ Oil	solids 🔿 liquid					
6	Mixing		mixing	mixing					
7	Centrifug	ation	Centrifugation	Centrifugation					
8	Solids	🔿 Oil	liquid← solids 🔿 Oil	solids 🔿 liquid					
9	Mixing		mixing	mixing					
10	Centrifug	ation	Centrifugation	Centrifugation					
11	Solids	🔿 Oil	liquid🗕 solids 🔿 Oil	Oil← solids→ liquid					
12	Mixing		mixing	mixing					
13	Centrifug	ation	Centrifugation	Centrifugation					
14	Solids	⇒ Oil	liquid← solids 🛶 Oil	Oil← solid → liquid					
			Natural 100%						

Table (9) shows designing steps of Avocado Oil extracted using Cold-Centrifuge method for the cultivars *Hass, Breda, Margarida, Fortuna*, and *Quintal*. As we can see oil separation steps varied according to the cultivars type. With the Hass cultivar only oil was centrifuged out of the solid mix, However liquid, solid and oil were centrifuged out of the Breda cultivar. With the last three cultivars (*Margarida, Fortuna, and Quintal*), oil was separated during the last two steps only. In general, all three products: Liquid, solid and oil were naturally produced without any chemical or biochemical modification.



Table 10 reports the characteristics of different fruit varieties harvested from the Minas Gerais, Rio Paranaíba farm (Tsuge) in Brazil, in mid-August 2015. It clearly shows an example of their variability particularly in terms of size, oil content, dry matter, seed, pulp, peel, moisture percentage and some physical and chemical characteristic. In general, the fruit is roughly pear-shaped in both Hass and Margarida cultivars, while smoothly pear-shaped in Breda, Fortuna and Quintal cultivars, more or less elongated. Its weight may range from 216.66 g in Hass cultivar the lowest weight while it is the highest level of oil content (25%) to 1091.0 g in Quintal cultivar. The relative amount of pulp varies according to the cultivar from 67.96% in Hass to 85.3% in Fortuna cultivar. The oil content may also vary widely (13.15% in *Margarida* to 25% in *Hass*) by soxhlet extraction, and (7.9% in *Margarida* to 20% in *Hass*) by cold-centrifugal. The oil texture at room temperature (25°C) were liquid in Hass cultivar and solid in other cultivars by

Soxhlet extraction. The oil which is extracted by cold-centrifugal is liquid for all cultivars.

The cold-centrifugal yield is 60% in *Margarida* and Quintal to 80% in *Hass* cultivar (Extra Virgin Avocado Oil extracted/oil content extracted by soxhlet) depending on the fruit cultivar.

Fatty acid analysis: Table 10 showsfatty acid composition of avocado oil samples. All oils of five cultivars are found to have oleic acid as the most dominant fatty acid. The main fatty acids composed of samples were oleic (C18:1), palmitic (C16:0), linoleic (C18:2) and palmitoleic acids (C16:1). These main fatty acidcomposition agreed with previous studies (Jorge, 2014;Haiyan et al., 2007; Moreno et al., 2003; Yanty et al., 2011). Table 10shows that the fatty acid composition of avocado oil samples especially Hass and Margarida is very similar to that reported by Jorge, 2014.

All oils had high amounts of total monounsaturated fatty acids, *Quintal* (74.74%), *Breda* (72.59%) *Fortuna* (67.86%), *Hass* (66.08%), and *Margarida* (60.36%). Meanwhile, the highest level of saturated fatty acids is presented by *Margarida* (23.6%) followed by *Hass* (22.06%); *Fortuna* (20.15%); *Breda* (18.06%) and *Quintal* (16.46%). Fatty acid composition of avocado oil depends upon the cultivar, stage of ripening and the geographical growth location and different sample processing (Ahmed and Barmore, 1980; Bora *et al.*, 2001; Moreno *et al.*, 2003). In comparison, the fatty acid composition of olive oil is 55-83% oleic (C18:1); 7.5-20.00% palmitic (C16:0); 2.5-21.0% linoleic (C18:2) and 0.3-3.5% and palmitoleic acids (C16:1) IOC,2015. So we may name avocado as the "Brazilian Olive" in English language and as "Azeitona Brazileira" in either Arabic or Portuguese languages.

Table 10. Fruit characteristics of different varieties of avocado (Hass, Breda, Fortuna, Quintal, and										
Wargarida), Fruit weight, puip, se	ed, peel, oll ar	la moisture per	centage in fruit	s and Some p	arameters.					
cultivar	Hass	Breda	Fortuna	Quintal	Margarida					
Fruit Weight (g)	216.66±85.49a	721.67±68.98b	1075.0±195.77c	1091±110.72c	1078.33±132.70c					
Pulp (%)	67.96±7.37c	71.2±6.61b	85.3±1.32a	83.33±0.75a	84.66±2.25a					
Peel (%)	12.2±0.7d	7.73±0.8c	6.03±0.21a	5.33±0.47b	6.46±0.42a					
Seed (%)	18.26±2.82d	21.06±2.33c	8.66±2.21a	11.33±2.85b	8.63±4.8a					
Dry matter (%)	34.11±2.82e	30.34±2.33d	22.25±2.21c	28.49±2.85b	20.29±4.8a					
Oil content (%)v/w Cold-centrifugal	20±0.5a	15.5±0.6b	9±0.3c	9.7±0.6d	7.9±0.3e					
Texture at room temperature (25°C)	Liquid	Liquid	Liquid	Liquid	Liquid					
color	Light greenish- yellow	Light greenish- yellow	Light yellow	Light yellow	Light yellow					
Oil content (%)v/w soxhlet	25.00±1.2	22.11±0.8	13.26±0.6	16.13±0.8	13.15±0.5					
Texture at room temperature (25°C)	Liquid	Solid	Solid	Solid	Solid					
color	Light brown	Light green	Light green	Light green	Light green					
Efficiency (Cold-centrifugal/ soxhlet) %	80	67.87	67.87	60.14	60					
Fatty acids(%) média										
Palmitic acid (16:0)	21.37±0.01a	18.06±0.03b	19.57±0.03c	16.46±0.02d	23.26±e					
Palmitoleic acid (16:1)	12.86±0.00d	6.56±0.01c	2.36±0.01b	4.36±0.01a	4.04±a					
Stearic acid (18:0)	0.69±0.02a	-	0.58±0.00b	-	0.34±c					
Oleic acid (18:1)	53.22±0.04a	66.03±0.04b	65.50±0.05c	70.44±0.05d	56.32±e					
Linoleic acid (18:2)	11.86±0.02a	9.35±0.02b	11.99±0.03a	8.30±0.01b	15.13±c					
Linolenic acid (18:3)				0.44±0.00	0.91±01					
Saturated (SFAs)	22.06	18.06	20.15	16.46	23.60					
Monounsaturated (MUFAs)	66.08	72.59	67.86	74.80	60.36					
polyunsaturated (PUFAs)	11.86	9.35	11.99	8.74	16.04					

Mean ± standard deviation followed by the same letters in the lines do not differ by Tukey test (p<0.05).

6.4. CONCLUSION & RECOMMENDATIONS

- This paper presents the progress of a research work focused on developing a new Avocado Oil-Extraction process that could be applied anywhere.
- The final products of the extraction process are oil, liquid, and paste that are 100% natural. Only (mechanical separation of the oil, fruit water, and paste phases at 24°C to avoid any thermal degradation) is used; it keeps original nutritive ingredients. The oil is of high quality; a nice and attractive clear yellow or green color; is the Extra-Virgin Avocado Oil (EVAO) as it does not need to be refined; its characteristics (fatty acids, color) are similar to those of Virgin olive oils, however, the yield is (60- 80 %).
- This method is simple, economic, fast and environment friendly.
- The method could be adapted on an industrial scale, resulting in the richest quality of oil as compared with the refined oil.
- The extraction of oil by cold-centrifuge process may retained all the natural flavor and nutrition, in addition to being rich and healthy.

6.5. REFERENCES

Eyres L., Sherpa L., Hendriks G. 2001. Avocado oil: a new edible oil fromAustralasia. Lipid Technol. 13:84-8.

PIRES, M. C.; YAMANISHI, O. K. Girdling Combined With Paclobutrazol Boosted Yield of "Bengal" Lychee in Brazil. Acta Horticulturae, p. 189-195, 2014.

7. EXPERIMENT- III

INFLUENCE OF DIFFERENT CULTIVARS AND HARVESTING TIME OF AVOCADO FRUIT ON OIL CONTENT, DRY MATTER, AND FATTY ACID COMPOSITION

Abstract

Oil content, dry matter, fatty acid composition and fruit weight of three Brazilian avocado (Persea Americana, Mill) cultivars: Hass, Quintal and Fortuna were examined during three harvesting time. Fruits were harvested in mid-June, July and August 2015. Avocado fruits were harvested according to Tsuge Farm picking standard in Rio Paranaíbacity, Minas Gerais State, Brazil. Samples were kept under ambient conditions to ripen. Oil content (fresh weight basis) of Hass, *Quintal* and *Fortuna* increased significantly (P < 0.05), from 22.4% to 25.6%, from 16.3% to 19.8% and from 9.8% to 13.3%, respectively, according to the length of time that the fruits remained on the tree. Significant differences in oil content among cultivars were observed at the same harvesting time. The highest percentage of oil was observed in Hass, while the lowest percentage was noticed in *Fortuna*. Moreover, significant differences were observed in dry matter among the three cultivars. Hass had significantly higher dry matter (32.9% to 34.1%) than the other cultivars, while Fortuna (20.2% to 23.2%) had the lowest. The average fruit weight was significantly influenced by the cultivar type. The highest average fruit weight observed for Quintal (720g to 1091.7g) and Fortuna (816.7g to 1075g) while the lowest was for Hass (218.3g to 338.3g). For all cultivars, oleic (54.01/65.9/64.22%), palmitic (21.18/17.96/19.09), linoleic (11.98/11.45/13.96%) and Palmitoleic (12.83/ 4.69/1.77%) acids were the major fatty acids found in Hass, Quintal and Fortuna, respectively. The saturated fatty acid of Hass, Quintal and Fortuna increased significantly, from 21.18% to 22.05%, from 17.96% to 21.84% and from 19.09% to 21.84% during harvesting time, respectively. There was very little variation in the content of monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) of the pulp oils between the cultivars, while the polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) decreased in general.

Key words: Hass, Quintal, Fortuna, Brazil, MUFAs, PUFAs, PUFAs.

7.1. INTRODUCTION

The avocado (Persea americana Mill.) is a polymorphic tree species that originated in a broad geographical area from the Eastern and central highlands of Mexico through Guatemala to the Pacific (Storey et al., 1986; Bost et al., 2013; Athar and Nasir, 2005). It is belonging to the Lauraceae family and Persea genus (Maranca, 1980; Koller, 1992). It is one of the most productive plants per unit of cultivated area. A large number of varieties of avocado are found in different regions of Brazil, whose fruits have varied chemical composition, especially in terms of levels of lipids in the pulp. Fruits with high levels of lipids in the pulp can be important raw material for oil extraction (Tango; Turatti, 1992).

Currently, avocado is a fruit that has been cultivated in many parts of the world, especially tropical countries. Avocado fruits are existed in different shape, size, color, depending on their variety. Avocado fruit can be consumed directly as a high energy food source because of its content of lipids that are significantly higher than those in other fruits. Besides, avocado fruit is also a good source of oil (Quinones-Islas et al., 2013). Avocado oil has been reported to lower cholesterol level (Moreno et al., 2003), maintain skin elasticity (Athar and Nasir, 2005) and reduce the coronary heart risk (Berasategi et al., 2012). Avocado oil is also widely used in the food industry, cosmetics and health products because of its unique characteristics and functions (Swisher, 1988), especially because of its high content of unsaturated fatty acid. Unsaturated fatty acids include monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs), approximately 71%, which is dominated by oleic acid and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) which is amounted to 13% of the total fat (Lu et al., 2009). Avocado oil content is highly correlated to fruit dry matter content (Lee et al., 1983; Tango et al., 2004). As fruit mature, the percentage of dry matter increases, as does the oil content; however, there is cultivar-to-cultivar variation in this relationship. Percentage of dry matter content has become the predominant maturity index for avocado harvesting, but it must be cultivar-specific (Bower and Cutting, 1988; Hofman et al., 2002; Lee et al., 1983). California, Australia, and Brazil also use percentage of dry matter content as an indirect measure to determine oil content, and hence maturity, for different cultivars (Lee and Coggins, 1982; Woolf et al., 2004).

Oil content and dry matter content are keys component of avocado flavor and texture. The Hawaii Department of Agriculture for example specifies a minimum of 12% oil content for "Hawaii Fancy" and "Hawaii No. l" grades. Avocado cultivars vary widely in fruit oil content, from 5% to > 30% (Woolf et al., 2004).

The avocado fruit is classified into three races: West Indian, Mexican, and Guatemalan (Morton, 1987). The Fortuna cultivar is Guatemalan x West Indian hybrids, which plays an important role in the Florida avocado industry. The

Fortuna cultivar is a large fruit with dark green skin and yellow pulp, and it contains about 16% oil (Brasil, 1971; Medina, 1980). In Brazil, the fruit is classified into two groups (Brasil, 1971): the fruits in the first group, which includes the Collinson and Barker cultivars, are suitable for long-distance transport and are commercialized as whole fruit, while the fruits in the second group, which includes the Fortuna cultivar, are delicate and have buttery consistency and soft pulp texture so that they are more suitable for oil extraction. The avocado oil, which is similar in composition to olive oil, is highly digestible and consists mainly of unsaturated fatty acids, predominantly oleic acid (Gómez-López, 1998, 1999), which contributes to the consistency and the special taste of the fruit (Sinyinda & Gramshaw, 1998). The avocado oil content is used as a parameter to evaluate the maturation stage of the fruit for harvest purposes (Donadio, 1995). For this reason, the lipid fraction of the avocado fruit has been studied by several authors, focusing on the composition of its fatty acids (Bora et al., 2001; Frega et al., 1990; Freitas et al., 1993; Martinez Nieto et al., 1988; Ratovohery et al., 1988; Soares et al., 1991; Southwell et al., 1990).

Description of the studied cultivars: Knowing the variety of avocado that one intends to cultivate is very important, since each market has its particular preferences. Ramos and Sampaio (2008) cite that the national market prefers large fruits with little amount of oil. On the other hand, in the European market; small fruit with a high oil content has greater acceptance. In addition, it is great importance to keep in mind the different characteristics among such varieties to make a good planning from the implantation of the crop to the flow of production to the market for which it is intended. Some important characteristics are described below:

Hass: It is a Guatemalense- mexicanohybrid that belongs to floral group A. The fruit is oval-pyriform, and has a thick and rough skin that confers a good resistance to transport. It weighs from 180 to 300 grams, and the pulp is of good quality and without fibers (Donadio, 1995).

Quintal: It is a hybrid Antilhano- guatemalense, of the floral group B. It has pyriform fruit, it weighs 600 to 800 grams (Donadio, 1987). The harvest period varies from April to June, has high yield of pulp and medium yield of oil.

Fortuna: It is a hybrid of the races Antilhana x Guatemalense that belongs to the floral group A. Its fruit is big, weighing 750 grams in average; Egg-yellow pulp, somewhat sweet. The production season varies from May to August. It is one of the most planted cultivars for domestic consumption (Teixeira, 1991).

Ripening stage is used mainly as a guideline to establish the avocado harvest time.

to date, there is no investigation on effect of cultivar and harvesting time of Brazilian avocado fruit on oil content; dry matter of pulp and fatty acid composition of that extracted oil. The objectives of current research were to determine effects of different cultivars and harvesting time of Brazilian avocado fruit (*Persea americana Mill.*) on oil content, dry matter, and fatty acid composition of that extracted oil which help in determining the proper harvesting time and to have information if the selected cultivars are proper to extract oil.

7.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS7.2.1. MATERIALS

This investigation was carried out at Tsuge Farm, in Rio Paranaíba, in Minas Gerais State (MG), Brazil. The located at Lat. $19^{\circ} 25' 33''S$; Long. $46^{\circ} 15' 37''$ W. Altitude (11080m over sea level). By Köppen's classification the climate of the region is Aw type in transition to Cwb, with average annual minimum temperature of 11.0 ° C. The mean annual temperature (MAT) averaged 21.1 °C, mean annual maximum temperature of 22.3 ° C and total annual precipitation of 2713.65 mm. (PIRES; YAMANISH, 2014). Mature avocado trees on ten to twelve years old of three cultivars; Hass, Quintal and Fortuna. The trees were spaced 8 m X 6 m; not irrigated and received routine horticultural care (standard pest, disease &fertilizer programs). Avocados are harvested by hand from the trees. The mean yield (17.5/ 30/ 30) tone of fruit per hectare for Hass, Quintal and Fortuna cultivars respectively.

Three Brazilian avocado cultivars, Hass, Quintal, and Fortuna (Persea americana Mill.), were selected for this experiment. Mature avocado fruits without infection or physical damages were picked up in the second week of June, July, and August, 2015, according to Tsuge Farm picking standard in Rio Paranaíbacity, Minas Gerais State, Brazil. Sufficient fruits were handpicked from the trees; fruits from each cultivars were placed in single layer trays and transported to the laboratory within few hours, and no maturation inhibitor or accelerator was used. Fruits free from any apparent skin damage were selected for analysis.

7.2.2. METHODS

7.2.2.1.Dry matter contents and fruit characteristics:

The pulp was manually removed and homogenized using a domestic blender. Dry matter of pulp was determined by drying samples to a constant mass. The peel and seed were separated manually. The malaxed pulp was packaged in polyethylene bags and stored in a refrigerator $(4\pm1^{\circ}C)$ until the oil was extract by

Soxhlet which was conducted within one day. Fresh weight of fruit, pulp, seed and peel percentage for selected fruits were determined on the samples, which were prepared from six fruits of each cultivar, during three harvesting time.

7.2.2.2. Oil content:

Oil content was determined by Soxhlet extraction, using Hexane as described by IUPAC (1979) method 1.122. Dried ground samples (10 g) were placed into the extractor with 250 mL of Hexane and were extracted for 6 hours. After extraction, the samples of mixture Hexane with oil were transferred to a rotary evaporator to separate the hexane from oil at 40 °C, and percentage of oil content was calculated. Oil content was expressed as both % f.w (fresh weight) and % d.w (dry weight) in pulp. The solvents were of pure grade (purity >97.7%) and were obtained from Merck and Brazil.

7.2.2.3. Fatty acid composition of the extracted oil:

Fatty acids were transformed into methyl esters (FAME) according to the method described by IOC (2001) and were determined using Gas Chromatograph: Shimadzu GCMS-QP2010 equipped with a flame ionization detector (FID).

7.2.2.4. Statistical analysis

The results of the three samples analyzed in duplicate (n=6) were processed for the determination of mean and standard deviation values using the SAS software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC) Version 9.1.3. Significant differences between the mean values of different characteristics were determined by the Tukey's test for multiple comparisons at the probability of 5% (p < 0.05).

7.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The data of the physical composition of the avocado fruits of the three cultivars Hass, Quintal and Fortuna during three harvesting time (June, July and August) are presented in Table 11. The mean fruit weight during three harvesting time; The weight of fruits of the Fortuna (927.0g) and Quintal (848g) cultivars were significantly heavier than the fruits of the Hass (272g) cultivar during all harvesting time. Medina (1980) reported an average weight of 718g for the Fortuna cultivar in fruits grown in the state of São Paulo, Brazil. While, Silva (2011) reported an average weight of (900/ 1100/ 200g) for fruits of the Fortuna, Quintal and Hass cultivars, respectively, which were collected from the municipality of Carmo da Cachoeira in the state of Minas Gerais, Brazil. However, Galvão et al (2014) reported an average weight of (418.33g) for fruits of the Fortuna cultivar which was obtained from the Experimental Station of Itambé (IPA - region in the Pernambuco, Brazil). The maximum pulp yield was also obtained for the Fortuna

and Quintal cultivar fruits (81.4/81.0%), respectively. While the minimum pulp yield was (67.6%) in Hass cultivar. Moreover, Silva (2011) reported an average pulp yield of (78.6/81.6/59.9%) in Fortuna, Quintal and Hass cultivar fruits, respectively. While Galvão et al (2014) reported (75.5%) for the Fortuna cultivar. The highest seed content was in Hass 19.7%, while it was 13% in Quintal and 12.0% in Fortuna cultivars. However, Galvão et al (2014) reported higher (15.14%) seed content in fruits of the Fortuna. While Silva (2011) reported an average seed content of (11.3/10.6/25.7%) for fruits of the Fortuna, Quintal and Hass cultivars, respectively. As well as, peel content; the highest percentage was in Hass 12.6%. while, 6.0% in Quintal and 6.6% in Fortuna. Galvão et al (2014) reported an average peel content of (8.8/5.6/16.7%) for fruits of the Fortuna, Quintal and Hass cultivars, respectively.

Table 11 shows that the dry matter and the oil content of all cultivars (Hass, Quintal and Fortuna) of pulp fruits increased from June to August. The dry matter content of pulp increased in rate of (3.64/6.11/14.85%) from June to August in Hass, Quintal and Fortuna cultivars, respectively. Moreover, the amount of oil similarly increased in the Hass, Quintal and Fortuna fruits from June to August at rates of (14.29/ 21.47/ 35.71%), respectively. Gaydou et al. (1987) reported that the moisture content of avocado mesocarp decreased steadily with increasing lipid content during the 12–39 weeks after flowering. While Ozdemir and Topuz (2004) reported increase in the dry matter contents of Fuerte and Hass cultivars at rate of (25.1/ 43.6%) from November to January, respectively. The oil content increased from November to January at the rates of 23.74% and 77.5% in Fuerte and Hass, respectively. Dry matter and oil content shows variations due to cultivars and harvesting time, which produce moisture losses.

Table 11. Values (mean ± standard deviation) of fruit parameters from '*Hass'*, '*Quintal*' and '*Fortuna*' avocado cultivars for three different harvesting time.

parameter	Cultivar		Harvesting Time			
-		June	July	August	Mean	Range
Weight (g)	Hass	260.0±20.0b/C			272A±45ab/B	218.3-
			338.3±16.1a/B	218.3±83.9b/B		338.3
	Quintal	720.0±30.5b/B			848B±115ab/A	720-
			733.0±155.4b/A	1091.7±110.7a/A		1091.7
	Fortuna	890.0±40.0a/A			927B±145a/A	816.7-
			816.7±144.7a/A	1075.0±195.8a/A		1075.0
Pulp (%)	Hass	66.4±2.5a/B	68.9±1.9a/B	67.5±5.5a/C	67.6A±3.9a/B	66.4-68.9
	Quintal	78.4±1.2c/A	81.4±1.2b/A	83.3±0.7a/B	81.0B±1.9b/A	78.4-83.3
	Fortuna	78.0±2.3c/A	81.0±2.2b/A	85.2±1.2a/A	81.4B±1.8b/A	78.0-85.2
Seed (%)	Hass	20.5±0.9a/A	18.8±1.6a/A	19.9±5.9a/A	19.7A±2.6a/A	18.8-20.5
	Quintal	16.2±2.7a/B	11.5±2.3b/B	11.3±0.9b/B	13.0±1.8b/B	11.3-16.2
	Fortuna	15.5±1.9a/B	11.7±1.2b/B	8.7±1.1c/C	12.0B±1.2b/B	8.7-15.5
Peel (%)	Hass	13.1±0.8a/A	12.3±2.1a/A	12.6±1.4a/A	12.7±1.2a/A	12.3-13.1
	Quintal	5.4±0.6/a/B	7.1±1.9a/B	5.4±0.4a/B	6±0.8a/B	5.4-7.1
	Fortuna	6.5±0.9a/B	7.3±1.3a/B	6.1±0.2a/B	6.6±0.7a/B	6.1-7.3
Pulp dry	Hass	32.9±0.41b/A	33.3±0.62b/A	34.1±0.81a/A	33.43±0.72b/A	32.9-34.1
matter (%)	Quintal	26.2±0.23a/B	27.0±0.32a/B	27.8±0.57a/B	27.00±0.53a/B	26.2-27.8
	Fortuna	20.2±0.15c/C	21.2±0.25b/C	23.2±0.31a/C	21.53±0.22b/c	20.2-23.2
Pulp oil	Hass	22.4±0.41c/A	25±0.11b/A	25.6±0.13a/A	24.33±0.36b/A	22.4-25.6
content	Quintal	16.3±0.24b/B	19.6±0.27a/B	19.8±0.35a/B	18.57±0.31a/B	16.3-19.8
(FW) (%)	Fortuna	9.8±0.19c/C	10.5±0.20b/C	13.3±0.15a/C	11.2±0.17b/C	9.8-13.3
Pulp oil	Hass	68.1±1.65c/A	75.1±0.82a/A	75.1±0.93a/A	72.77±1.25b/A	68.1-75.1
content	Quintal	62.2±1.54c/B	72.6±1.51a/B	71.2±1.31a/B	68.67±1.11b/B	62.2-71.2
(DW) (%)	Fortuna	48.5±0.82c/C	49.5±1.33c/C	57.3±0.9a/C	51.77±1.09b/C	48.5-57.3
Mean values f	followed by d	lifferent uppercase	and lowercase indica	ite significant statisti	cal differences (p<	0.05)
between and	within cultiv	ars during harvesti	ng time, respectively	, according to the Tu	key test.	

Fatty acid analysis: Table (12) showed the fatty acids composition of avocado oil samples of three cultivars during three harvesting time. All oils of three cultivars during all harvesting time are found to have oleic acid as the most dominant fatty acid (52.69-54.01 / 63.97-65.90 / 62.88-64.22%), followed by palmitic (21.18-21.51 / 17.96-21.84 / 19.09-21.84%), linolenic (10.19-11.98 / 9.64-11.45 / 12.02-13.96%), and palmitoleic (12.83-14.8 / 4.13-4.69 / 1.77-2.44%) acids which were found to be the major fatty acids in avocado oil of *Hass, Quintal* and *Fortuna* cultivars, respectively. The highest value of Palmitoleic acid during three harvesting time was found in *Hass* (12.83 to 14.8%), followed by *Quintal* (4.13-4.69%). while, the lowest percentage (1.77 to 2.44%) was found in *Fortuna* cultivar.

Fatty acid composition of avocado oil depends upon the cultivar, stage of ripening, the geographical growth location and different sample processing (Ahmed and Barmore, 1980; Bora et al., 2001; Moreno et al., 2003). These main fatty acids composition agreed with previous studies (Jorge, 2014; Haiyan et al., 2007; Moreno et al., 2003; Yanty et al., 2011). Stearic acid was also determined to be in small amounts only in August in *Hass* cultivar and in July in *Quintal* cultivar

and was not presented in other harvesting time. while it was not presented in all harvesting time in *Fortuna* cultivar, and Linolenic acid was also determined to be in small amounts in July and August in *Hass* cultivar and only in June in *Fortuna* cultivar. However, it was not presented in all harvesting time in the *Quintal* cultivar. Based on the linoleic and linolenic acid contents in the oils of the three avocado cultivars, it can be concluded that these cultivars are rich sources of these ω -3 and ω -6 fatty acids, which could contribute towards the daily needs of an adult (0.8 to 4.0g), (World Health Organization & Food and Agriculture Organization, 2003). Other researchers (Brasil, 1971; Bora et al., 2001; Frega et al., 1990; Martinez Nieto et al., 1988; Medina, 1980; Moreno et al., 2003; Ratovohery et al., 1988; Salgado et al., 2008; Tango et al., 1972, 2004; Villa-Rodríguez et al., 2011; Dreher & Davenport, 2013) have also reported oleic acid as the major fatty acid, followed by palmitic, linolenic, and palmitoleic acids in the pulp of Collinson, Barker, Fortuna, Lula, Bacon, Fuerte, Zutano, Hass, and Margarida cultivars of avocado fruit.

In general, oleic acid was the fatty acid which decreased from June to August in both Hass and Quintal cultivars, with percentages ranging from 54.01% to 52.69% in the *Hass*, and from 65.9% to 63.97% in the *Quintal* cultivar. while, in Fortuna fluctuated during three harvesting time. But, Linoleic acid which decreased from June to August in all cultivars *Hass*, *Quintan* and *Fortuna* from 11.98% to 10.19%, from 11.455 to 9.64% and from 13.96% to 12.025, respectively. In contrast, Palmitic acid steadily increased from June to August in *Hass*, *Quintal*, *Fortuna* cultivars from 21.18% to 21.51%, from 17.96% to 21.84% and from 21.23% to 21.84%, respectively. Table 12. Fatty acid composition (percent) of pulp oils obtained from three different cultivars of Brazilian avocado fruit during three harvesting time.

Fatty acids	Cultiva	Harves	sting Time			
	rs	Iune	Iulv	August	mean	Range
C16:0	Hass	21.18±0.33	21.37±0.23a	21.51±0.12a	21.35±0.15	21.18-
Palimitic acid		a/A	/A	/B	a/A	21.51
	Quinta	17.96±0.0.1	18.21±0.13c	21.84±0.23a	19.34±0.15	17.96-
	Ĩ	4c/C	/C	/A	b/C	21.84
	Fortun	19.09±0.19	21.23±0.15b	21.84±0.25a	20.72±0.18	19.09-
	а	d/B	/B	/A	c/B	21.84
C16:1	Hass	12.83±0.07	12.86±0.09c	14.80±0.10a	13.5±0.81b	12.83-
Palmitoleic acid		c/A	/A	/A	/A	14.8
	Quinta	4.69±0.02a	4.13±0.03d/	4.55±0.06b/	4.46±0.02c	
	1	/B	В	В	/B	4.13-4.69
	Fortun	1.77±0.02d		2.44±0.05a/	2.14±0.02c	
	а	/C	2.2±0.06b/C	С	/C	1.77-2.44
C18:0	Hass	-		0.54±0.01a/	0.18±0.01b	
Stearic acid			-	A	/A	0.00-0.54
	Quinta	-	1.07±0.01a/		0.36±0.01b	
	1		A	-	/B	0.00-1.07
	Fortun		-	-	-	-
	а	-				
C18:1	Hass	54.01±0.45	53.22±0.33b	52.69±0.23c	53.31±0.35	52.69-
Oleic acid		a/C	/C	/C	b/C	54.01
	Quinta	65.9±0.26a	65.44±0.39b	63.97±0.46c	65.10±0.35	63.97-
	1	/A	/A	/A	b/A	65.90
	Fortun	64.22±0.51	62.88±0.82b	63.7±0.74a/	63.60±0.65	62.88-
	а	a/B	/B	В	a/B	64.22
C18:2	Hass	11.98 ± 0.04	11.86±0.02a	10.19±0.07c	11.34 ± 0.08	10.19-
Linoleic acid		a/B	/B	<u>/B</u>	b/B	11.98
	Quinta	11.45 ± 0.03	11.15±0.04a	9.64±0.06c/	10.75 ± 0.08	9.64-
	1	a/C	/C	С	b/C	11.45
	Fortun	13.96±0.06	13.69±0.09b	12.02±0.8d/	13.22 ± 0.07	12.02-
	а	a/A	/A	A	c/A	13.96
C18:3	Hass		0.69±0.02a/	0.27±0.01b/	0.32±0.01b	
Linolenic acid		-	A	A	/A	0.00-0.69
	Quinta 1	-	-	-	-	-
	Fortun	0.96±0.01a		-	0.32±0.01b	
	а	/A	-		/A	0.00-0.96
ND- Not Identifie	d			•	. ,	

Each value in the table represents the mean \pm standard deviation. Different uppercase and lowercase indicate significant statistical differences (*p*<0.05) between and within cultivars during harvesting time, respectively, according to the Tukey test.

Figure 5. Show the maximum value of oleic acid in the mean of three harvesting time was found in *Quintal* 65%, followed by *Fortuna* 63.6%. while, the

lowest percentage 53.31% was found in *Hass* cultivar. As known Oleic acid, like other omega-9s fatty acids, they all improve the Heart Health & Lower the bad Cholesterol (LDL). Oleic acid, can help in reducing the risk of heart disease by raising levels of high-density lipoprotein (HDL), "good cholesterol." The oleic acid in avocado oil is also beneficial because it can lower low-density lipoprotein (LDL), "bad" cholesterol (Wood et al. (2003).



Figure 5. The percentage of Oleic acid of avocado oil (Hass, Quintal and Fortuna) at three harvesting time.

The total values of saturated fatty acids (SFA), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), polyunsaturated (PUFA), and Unsaturated fatty acids (UFA) in addition to the MUFA/SFA, PUFA/SFA, and UFA/SFA ratios during three harvesting time and for three cultivars are presented in Table 13. Avocado oil samples had high amounts of total unsaturated fatty acids during three harvesting time, i.e., Hass (77.95-78.81%),Fortuna (78.16-80.91%), Quintal (78.16-82.04%) and respectively. All the cultivars during three harvesting time were found to be healthy, as they had high MUFA: SFA ratio; (3.06-3.16/3.14-3.93/3.03-3.46) in Hass, Quintal and Fortuna, respectively. Moreover, and from table (5 and 6). In general it was noticed that there have been no clear cut variation (Ascending-Descending) in the fatty acid contents during storage periods. Also, there was no relation between molecular weight and degree of unsaturation, and the variations in these fatty acid contents with different storage periods, from different cultivars. Wood et al. (2003) reported the importance of high ratio of PUFA/SFA to reduce cardiovascular diseases, and they recommended a minimum value of 0.4. Thus, higher values of this index in almost all oils extracted from the pulp of the avocado three cultivars, during three harvesting time show the high quality of the oils.

Table 13. Saturated (SFAs), Monounsaturated (MUFAs), Polyunsaturated (PUFAs), Unsaturated Fatty Acids (UFAs) profile of pulp oils obtained from three different cultivars of Brazilian avocado fruit during three harvesting time.

]	Harvesting Time			
Cultivar	Fatty acids	June	July	August	Mean	Range
	SFAs	21.18±0.16b/A	21.37±0.25b/A	22.05±0.18a/A	21.53±0.23b/A	21.18-22.05
	MUFAs	66.83±0.35b/B	66.08±0.29c/B	67.49±0.39a/B	66.80±0.26b/B	66.08-67.49
s	PUFAs	11.98±0.13b/B	12.55±0.21a/B	10.46±0.15c/B	11.66±0.19b/B	10.46-12.55
las	UFAs	78.81±0.71a/C	78.63±0.52a/B	77.95±0.39b/B	78.46±0.42a/C	77.95-78.81
H	MUFAs/SFAs	3.16±0.03a/C	3.09±0.02b/B	3.06±0.01c/B	3.10±0.04b/C	3.06-3.16
	PUFAs/SFAs	0.57±0.01a/C	0.59±0.03a/B	0.47±0.02b/B	0.54±0.03a/B	0.47-0.59
	UFAs/SFAs	3.72±0.03a/C	3.68±0.05b/B	3.54±0.01c/A	3.65±0.04b/C	3.54-3.72
	SFAs	17.96±0.25c/C	19.28±0.18b/B	21.84±0.31a/A	19.69±0.27b/C	17.96-21.84
	MUFAs	70.59±0.34a/A	69.57±0.29b/A	68.52±0.51c/A	69.56±0.33b/A	68.52-70.59
tal	PUFAs	11.45±0.22a/C	11.15±0.18b/C	9.64±0.32d/C	10.75±0.25c/C	9.64-11.45
uin	UFAs	82.04±0.36a/A	80.72±0.52b/A	78.16±0.27c/A	80.31±0.39b/A	78.16-82.04
nd	MUFAs/SFAs	3.93±0.02a/A	3.61±0.01b/A	3.14±0.5d/A	3.56±0.07c/A	3.14-3.93
	PUFAs/SFAs	0.64±0.04a/B	0.58±0.01b/B	0.44±0.01c/B	0.55±0.03b/B	0.44-0.64
	UFAs/SFAs	4.57±0.03a/A	4.19±0.01b/A	3.58±0.02c/A	4.11±0.02b/A	3.58-4.57
	SFAs	19.09±0.20d/B	21.23±0.18b/A	21.84±0.29a/A	20.72±0.23c/B	19.09-21.84
	MUFAs	65.99±0.81a/B	65.08±0.35b/C	66.14±0.37a/C	65.74±0.33a/C	65.08-66.14
ша	PUFAs	14.92±0.17a/A	13.69±0.21b/A	12.02±0.19c/A	13.54±0.25b/A	12.02-14.92
rtu	UFAs	80.91±0.93a/B	78.77±0.66b/B	78.16±0.39c/A	79.28±0.72b/B	78.16-80.91
Foi	MUFAs/SFAs	3.46±0.02a/B	3.07±0.01c/B	3.03±0.04c/B	3.18±0.01b/B	3.03-3.46
	PUFAs/SFAs	0.78±0.03a/A	0.64±0.02b/A	0.55± 0.01c/A	0.66±0.01b/A	0.55-0.78
	UFAs/SFAs	4.24±0.03a/B	3.71±0.05b/B	3.58±0.03c/A	3.84±0.04d/B	3.58-4.24
CEA - Cata	nated fatter aside ((1 (0 (10 0)				

SFAs: Saturated fatty acids (C16:0; C18:0)

MUFAs: Monounsaturated fatty acids (C16:1; C18:1)

PUFAs: Polyunsaturated fatty acids (C18:2; C18:3)

Each value in the table represents the mean \pm standard deviation. Different uppercase and lowercase indicate significant statistical differences (p<0.05) between and within cultivars during harvesting time, respectively, according to the Tukey test.

7.4. CONCLUSION

The current research provide information about the physical composition of three cultivars of the Brazilian avocado fruits. As well as the dry matter and the oil content of pulp, and fatty acid composition of that extracted oil, and how they are influenced by harvesting time. Oil content and dry matter differ according to cultivar and harvesting time. The oil content was significantly different (p < 0.05) for all cultivars. The highest value for oil content was observed in Hass followed by Quintal. The highest percentage of pulp were noticed in Quintal and Fortuna. the highest fruit yield (tone per hectare) were found in Quintal and Fortuna. All selected cultivars are excellent to extract oil because of the high percentage of oil in the pulp, high percentage of pulp in the fruits and high yield of fruits per hectare. This study reveals that oleic acid was major fatty acid in all harvesting times for all cultivars. Oil content in pulp was lower in June and higher in august for all three cultivars. This concludes that the optimal harvesting time is by waiting until the pulp's oil content increases as described previously. The harvesting time should be achieved from the middle of July in order to obtain the maximum oil yield.

7.5. REFERENCES

Ahmed, E.M. and Barmore, C.R. (1980). Avocado. In: Tropical and Subtropical Fruits: Composition, Properties and Uses, Nagy, S. and P.E. Shaw (Eds.). AVI Publishing Inc., Westport, CT., USA., pp: 121-156.

Athar, M., and Nasir, S.M. (2005). Taxonomic perspective of plant species yielding vegetable oils used in cosmetics and skin care products. Afr. J. Biotechnol., 4: 36-44.

Berasategi, I., Barriuso, B., Ansorena, D., and Astiasaran, I. (2012). Stability of avocado oil during heating: Comparative study to olive oil. Food Chem., 132: 439-446.

Bora, P. S., Narain, N., Rocha, R. V. M., and Paulo, M. Q. (2001). Characterization of the oils from the pulp and seeds of avocado (cultivar Fuerte) fruits. Grasas y Aceites, 52(3-4), 171-174.

Bost, J.B., Smith, N.J.H. and Crane, J.H. (2013). History Distribution and Uses. In: The Avocado: Botany, Production and Uses, Schaffer, B.A., B.N. Wolstenholme, A.W. Whiley (Eds.), CABI., Wallingford, Oxfordshire, England, pp:10-30.

Bower, J.P., and Cutting, J.G. (1988). In Horticulture reviews, Avocado fruit development and ripening physiology, ed Janick J. (Timber Press, Portland, OR), pp 229–271.

Brasil. Ministério do Interior. (1971). Contribuição ao desenvolvimento da agroindústria: abacate, mamona. Rio de Janeiro: Grupo Executivo de Irrigação para o Desenvolvimento Agrícola/Fundação Centro Tropical de Pesquisa e Tecnologia de Alimentos. 47 p. v. 3.

Donadio, L. C. (1987). Present status of Brazilian avocado industry. In: Word Avocado Congress, 1.; 1987, South Africa. Proceedings. SAAGA: Yearbook, 1987. v.10, p. 82-85.

Donadio, L. C. (1995). Abacate para exportação: aspectos técnicos da produção. 2a. ed. Publicações técnicas FRUPEX, n ° 2. Ministério da Agricultura, do Abastecimento e da Reforma Agrária, Secretaria de Desenvolvimento Rural, Programa de Apoio à Produção e Exportação de Frutas, Hortaliças, Flores e Plantas Ornamentais. Brasília. EMBRAPA – SPI, 1995. 53p.
Dreher, M. L., and Davenport, A. J. (2013). Hass avocado composition and potential health effects. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 53(7), 738-750. PMid:23638933 PMCid:PMC3664913.

Frega, N., Bocci, F., Lerker, G., and Bortolomeazzi, R. (1990). Lipid composition of some avocado cultivars. Italian Journal of Food Science, 2(3), 197-204.

Freitas, S. P., Lago, R. C. A., Jablonca, F. H., and Hartman, L. (1993). Enzymatic aqueous extraction of avocado oil from fresh pulp. Revue Francaise des Corps Gras, 40(11-12), 365-371.

Galvão, M.S., Narain, N., and Nigam, N. (2014). Influence of different cultivars on oil quality and chemical characteristics of avocado fruit. Food sci. Technol (campinas) vol.34 no.3. P4.

Gaydou, E. M., Lozano, Y., and Ratovohery, J. (1987). Triglyceride and fatty acid compositions in the mesocarp of Persea americana during fruit development. Phytochemistry, 26(6), 1595–1597.

Gómez-López, V. M. (1998). Characterization of avocado (*Persea americana* Mill.) varieties of very low oil content. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 46(9), 3643-3647.

Gómez-López, V. M. (1999). Characterization of avocado (*Persea americana* Mill.) varieties of low oil content. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 47(7), 2707-2710.

Haiyan, Z., Bedgood, D.R. ., Bishop, Jr., A.G., Prenzler, P.D and Robards, K. 2007. Endogenous biophenol, fatty acid and volatile profiles of selected oils. Food Chem., 100: 1544-155

Hofman, P.J., Bower, J., Woolf, A., Schaffer, B., Wolstenholme, B.N., and Whiley, A.W. (2013). Harvesting, packing, postharvest technology, transport and processing. In The Avocado: Botany, Production and Uses, 2nd edn (CABI Publishing), p.489–540.

IUPAC (1979). Standard methods for the analysis of the oils, fats and derivatives (6th ed.). Oxford: Pergamon Press.

Jorge, T.S. (2014) avaliação reológica do óleo de abacate (persea americana mill) e estudo da estabilidade sob condições de aquecimento e armazenamento à temperatura ambiente São José do Rio Preto.P43.

Koller, O. C. (1992). Abacaticultura. Porto Alegre: UFRGS, 1992. 138 p.

Lee, S.K., and Coggins, C.W. (1982) Dry weight method for determination of avocado fruit maturity. Calif. Avocado Soc. Yrbk. 66:67–70.

Lee, S.K., Young, R.E., Schiffman, P.M., and Coggins, C.W. (1983) Maturity studies of avocado fruit based on picking dates and dry weight. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 108:390–394.

Lu, Q.Y., Zhang, Y., Wang, Y. Wang, D., and Lee R. (2009). California Hass Avocado: Profiling of carotenoids, tocopherol, fatty acid and fat content during maturation and from different growing areas. J. Agric. Food Chem., 57: 10408-10413.

Maranca, G. (1980). Fruticultura comercial manga e abacate. São Paulo: Nobel, 1980.

Martinez Nieto, L., Camacho, R. F., Rodriguez, V. S., and Moreno, R. M. V. (1988). Extraction and characterization of avocado oil. Grasas y Aceites, 39, 272-277.

Medina, J. C. (1980). Alguns aspectos tecnológicos das frutas tropicais e seus produtos (Série Frutas Tropicais, Vol. 10). Campinas: ITAL. 296 p.

Moreno, A.O., Dorantes, L., Galndez, J., and Guzman, R.I. (2003). Effect of different extraction methods on fatty acids, volatile compounds and physical and chemical properties of avocado (Persea Americana Mill.) oil. J. Agric. Food Chem., 51: 2216-2221.

Morton, J. (1987). Laureaceae. In J. F. Morton. Fruits of warm climates. Miami: Morton. p. 91-102.

Ozdemir, F. and Topuz, A. (2004). Changes in dry matter, oil content and fatty acids composition of avocado during harvesting time and post harvesting ripening period. Food Chemistry 86: 79–83.

PIRES, M. C.; YAMANISHI, O. K. Girdling Combined With Paclobutrazol Boosted Yield of "Bengal" Lychee in Brazil. Acta Horticulturae, p. 189-195, 2014.

Quinones-Islas, N., Meza-Marquez, O.G., Osorio-Revilla, G., and Gallardo-Velazquez, T. (2013). Detection of adulterants in avocado oil by Mid-FTIR spectroscopy and multivariate analysis. Food Res. Int., 51: 148-154.

Ramos, D. P., and Sampaio, A. C. (2008). Principais variedades de abacateiros. In: LEONEL, S.; SAMPAIO, A. C. Abacate: Aspectos Técnicos da Produção. São Paulo: Universidade Estadual Paulista: Cultura Acadêmica Editora. p. 37-64.

Ratovohery, J. V., Lozano, Y. F., and Gaydou, E. M. (1988). Fruit development effect on fatty acid composition of Persea americana fruit mesocarp. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 36(2), 287-293.

Salgado, J. M., Danieli, F., Regitano-D'Arce, M. A. B., Frias, A., and Mansi, D. N. (2008). O óleo de abacate (Persea americana Mill) como matéria-prima para a indústria alimentícia. Ciência e Tecnologia de Alimentos, 28(Supl.), 20-26.

Silva, F.O.R. (2011) Fenologia e caracterização físico-química de abacateiros em Carmo da Cachoeira-MG / Lavras : UFLA.

Sinyinda, S., and Gramshaw, J. W. (1998). Volatiles of avocado fruit. Food Chemistry, 62(4), 483-487.

Soares, S. E., Mancini Filho, J., Turatti, J. M., and Tango, J. S. (1991). Caracterização física, química e avaliação da estabilidade do óleo de abacate (*Persea americana* Mill.) nas diferentes etapas do processo de refinação. *Revista de Farmácia e Bioquímica da Universidade de São Paulo*, 27(1), 70-82.

Southwell, K. H., Harris, R. V., and Swetman, A. A. (1990). Extraction and refining of oil obtained from dried avocado fruit using a small expeller. *Tropical Science*, *30*(2), 121-131.

Storey, W.B., Bergh, B. and Zentmyer, G.A. (1986). The Origin, Indigenous Range and Dissemination of the Avocado. California Avocado Soc., 70: 127-133.

Swisher, H.E. (1988). Avocado oil: From food use to skin care. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 65: 1704-1713.

Tango, J. S., Carvalho, C. R. L., and Soares, N. B. (2004). Caracterização física e química de frutos de abacate visando a seu potencial para extração de óleo. Revista Brasileira de Fruticultura, v.26(1), p. 17-23.

Tango, J. S., Costa, S. I., Antunes, A. J., and Figueiredo, I. B. (1972). Composition of fruit oil of different varieties of avocado grow in São Paulo. Fruits, 27(2), p. 143-146.

Tango, J. S. and Turatti, J. M. Óleo de abacate. In: Teixeira, C. G. et al. Abacate: cultura, matéria-prima, processamento e aspectos econômicos. Campinas: ITAL, 1992.

Teixeira, C.G. (1991). Abacate: cultura, matéria prima, processamento e aspectos econômicos. 2.ed. Campinas: ITAL. P. 250.

Villa-Rodríguez, J. A., Molina-Corral, F. J., Ayala-Zavala, J. F., Olivas, G. I., and González-Aguilar, G. A. (2011). Effect of maturity stage on the content of fatty acids and antioxidant activity of 'Hass' avocado. Food Research International, 44(5), p. 1231-1237.

Wood, J. D., Richardson, G. R., and Fisher, A. V. (2003). Effects of fatty acids on meat quality: a review. Meat Science, 66(1), p. 21-32.

Woolf, A.B., Bowen, J.H., Ball, S., Durand, S., Laidlaw, W.G., and Ferguson, I.B. (2004). A delay between a 38C pretreatment and damaging high and low temperature treatments influences pretreatment efficacy in 'Hass' avocados. Postharvest Biol. Technol. 34, 143–153.

Woolf,A.B., White,A., Arpaia, M. L., and Gross, K.C. (2004). The commercial storage of fruits, vegetables and florist and nursery stocks, Avocado, eds Gross K.C., Wang C.W., Salveit M. (USDA, ARS Agr. Hdbk. No. 66). 13 Jan. 2009.

World Health Organization - WHO & Food and Agriculture Organization - FAO. (2003). Food and agriculture organization diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Geneva: WHO/FAO.

Yanty, N.A.M., Marikkar, J.M.N. and Long, K. (2011). Effect of varietal differences on composition and thermal characteristics of avocado oil. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 88: 1997-2003.

8. EXPERIMENT. IV

EFFECTS OF CULTIVAR AND RIPENING STAGE OF BRAZILIAN AVOCADO FRUIT ON OIL CONTENT, DRY MATTER, AND FATTY ACID COMPOSITION

Abstract

The effects of different cultivars and ripening stages of Brazilian avocado fruits (Persea Americana, Mill) on oil content, dry matter, and fatty acid composition were evaluated. Three cultivars of avocado fruits including Hass, Breda and Margarida were harvested at four different ripening stages from June to September, 2015, according to Tsuge Farm picking standard in Rio Paranaíba city, Minas Gerais State, Brazil. Dry matter content in Hass, Breda and Margarida increased from 32.93% to 36.24%, from 23.81% to 31.37% and from 18% to 23%, respectively, during ripening stages. Oil content increased significantly (p<0.05) from 22.38% to 26.04% in Hass, from 11.8% to 23.99% in Breda and from 8.04% to 14.37% in Margarida. In all ripening stages, of all cultivars, oleic (52.83 / 65.36 / 57.71%), palmitic (21.48 / 19.34 / 23.94%), linoleic (12.13 / 9.41 / 14.21%) and palmitoleic (13.2 / 5.58 / 3.5%) acids were the major fatty acids, in Hass, Breda and Margarida, respectively.

Keywords: Avocado, Hass, Breda, Margarida, fatty acid composition, ripening stage.

8.1. INTRODUCTION

The avocado tree is a fruit plant originated in the Americas, especially Mexico and Central America, belonging to the *Lauraceae* family and *Persea* genus (Maranca, 1980; Koller, 1992). Mexico is the country that leads the production of avocados in the world. In Brazil, The state of São Paulo is the largest domestic producer, accounting for more than 50% of production. The state of Minas Gerais is the second, followed by Paraná and Espírito Santo (Agrianual, 2016). It is one of the most productive plants per unit of cultivated area (Schaffer et al., 2013). A large number of varieties of avocado are found in different regions of Brazil, whose fruits have varied chemical composition, especially in terms of levels of lipids in the pulp. Fruits with high levels of lipids in the pulp can be important raw material for oil extraction (Tango and Turatti, 1992). However, there is no widespread commercial method for oil recovery from avocado pulp in Brazil. Lucchesi and coworkers, 1975 reported that the oil content in avocado pulp can be less than 2% during the first two months of fruit standing on the tree, then increases slowly to the final stage, up fast and can reach 35% of the pulp.

Avocado (*Persea americana Mill*) is an oil-rich, highly nutritious fruit which is abundant locally in Brazil. The avocado oil contains all the beneficial attributes of the fruit, which makes it a very valuable product. It contains high amounts of the anti-cholesterol agent beta-sitosterol, a wide variety of vitamins and antioxidants, and other plant chemicals, which impart beneficial functional properties on humans (Rodríguez-Carpena et al., 2012). The pulp contains 5-30% of the oil (based on fresh weight).

A typical avocado oil is comprised mostly of monounsaturated fatty acids (74%), 11% polyunsaturated fatty acids and about 13% saturated (Arpaia *et al.*, 2006). These percentages vary with cultivars and other influential factors but the oil is very similar to olive oil. It is this high level of monounsaturated fat, which gives the desirable effect of being "anticholesterol" as it prevents the formation of clots the major cause of coronary heart disease. The presence of tocopherols provides antioxidant activity to the oil and combats the lipid oxidation (Dias et al., 2015). Studies on berries and avocado have shown that cultivar and optimal harvesting time are the most important factors determining the amount of fatty acids, triacylglycerol species (TAGs) and antioxidant activity of extracted oil (Ozdemir and Topuz, 2004; Yang and Kallio, 2004).

Description of the studied cultivars: Some important characteristics are described below:

Hass: It is a Guatemalense- mexicanohybrid that belongs to floral group A. The fruit is oval-pyriform, and has a thick and rough peel that confers a good resistance to transport. It weighs from 180 to 300 grams, and the pulp is of good

quality and has no fibers (Donadio, 1995).

Breda: it is a Antilhano-Guatemalan hybrid, that belong to floral group A. The fruit is medium size (400-600g), oval shaped, with thin peel and yellow pulp without fibers. The production time is late, varying from June to December. It has a high commercial value, but the production is alternating (COMPANY OF STORES AND GENERAL STORAGE COMPANIES of SÃO PAULO, 2007), cited by Ramos and Sampaio (2008).

Margarida: It is a Antilhano-Guatemalan hybrid, that belong to floral group B. the fruit is spheriod-shaped, and has a thin peel. it weighs 700 grams and low percentage of oil (DONADIO, 1987). The skin is green. The pulp is yellow and without fibers (CEAGESP, 2007), cited by Ramos and Sampaio (2008).to date, there is no investigation on effect of cultivar and ripening stage of Brazilian avocado fruit on oil content, dry matter, and fatty acid composition. Therefore, the objectives of current research were to determine effects of different cultivars and ripening stages of Brazilian avocado fruit (*Persea americana Mill.*) on oil content, dry matter, and fatty acid composition of its avocado oil extracted using soxhlet.

8.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS8.2.1. MATERIALS

This investigation was carried out at Tsuge Farm,Rio Paranaíba, Minas Gerais State (MG), Brazil. The located at Lat. $19^{\circ} 25' 33''S$; Long. $46^{\circ} 15' 37'' W$. Altitude (11080m over sea level). By Köppen's classification the climate of the region is Aw type in transition to Cwb, with average annual minimum temperature of 11.0 ° C. The mean annual temperature (MAT) averaged 21.1°C, mean annual maximum temperature of 22.3 ° C and total annual precipitation of 2713.65 mm. (PIRES; YAMANISH, 2014).Mature avocado trees on ten to twelve years old of three cultivars; Hass, Breda and Margarida. The trees were spaced 8 m X 6 m; not irrigated and received routine horticultural care (standard pest, disease &fertilizer programs). Avocados are harvested by hand from the trees. The mean yield (17.5/ 30/ 35) tone of fruit per hectare for Hass, Breda and Margarida cultivars respectively.

Three Brazilian avocado cultivars, *Hass, Breda, and Margarida (Persea americana Mill.*), were selected for this experiment. Mature avocado fruits without infection or physical damages were picked up in the second week of June, July, August and September, 2015, according to Tsuge Farm picking standard in Rio Paranaíba city, Minas Gerais State, Brazil. Sufficient fruits were handpicked from the trees; fruits from each cultivar were placed in single layer trays and transported

to the laboratory within few hours, and no maturation inhibitor or accelerator was used. Fruits free from any apparent skin damage were selected for analysis.

8.2.2. METHODS

8.2.2.1. Dry matter contents and fruit characteristics:

The pulp was manually removed and homogenized using a domestic blender, dry matter of pulp was determined by drying samples to a constant mass. The peel and seed were separated manually. The malaxed pulp was packaged in polyethylene bags and stored in a refrigerator $(4\pm1^{\circ}C)$ until the oil was extract by Soxhlet which was conducted within one day. Fresh weight of fruit , pulp, seed and peel percentage for selected fruits were determined on the samples, which were prepared from six fruits of each cultivar, during four harvesting time.

8.2.2.2. Oil content:

Oil content was determined by Soxhlet extraction, using Hexane as described by IUPAC (1979) method 1.122. Dried ground samples (10g) were placed into the extractor with 250 mL of Hexane and were extracted for 6 hours. After extraction, the samples of mixture Hexane with oil were transferred to a rotary evaporator to separate the hexane from oil at 40 °C, and percentage of oil content was calculated. Oil content was expressed as both % f.w. and % d.w in pulp. The solvents were of pure grade (purity >97.7%) and were obtained from Merck in Brazil.

8.2.2.3. Fatty acid composition of the extracted oil:

Fatty acid composition of avocado oil was determined as Fatty Acid Methyl Esters (FAMEs) according to the method described by COI/T.20/Doc. no. 24.

8.2.2.4. Statistical analysis:

The obtained data were statistically analyzed using Analysis of variance and Duncan multiple range test and were performed using SAS to test for significance of differences between values at the level of P < 0.05. RCB design was used for statistical analysis.

8.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The data of the physical composition of the avocado fruits of the three cultivars Hass, Breda and Margarida during four harvesting time (June, July, August and September) are presented in Table 14. The mean fruit weight during four harvesting time; the weight of fruits of the Margarida (982.4g) and Breda (627.5g) cultivars were significantly heavier than the fruits of the Hass (272.9g) cultivar. The maximum pulp yield was also obtained for the Margarida cultivar

fruits, 83.6%, compared to 70.9% for Breda and around 68.6% for the Hass fruits. The lowest seed content was in Margarida 9.5%, while it was 21.6% in Breda and 19.3% in Hass cultivars. The highest peel content were 12.1% in Hass cultivar, while 7% in Margarida and 7.5% in Breda. Jorge (2014) reported an average weight of (664.51/ 169.16g) for fruits of the Margarida and Hass cultivars, respectively, which were collected in September 2012, from Tsuge farm in São Gotardo city, Minas Gerais State, Brazil. And an average pulp, seed, and peel yield of (72.19/ 64.72%), (12.24/ 14.51%), and (15.57/ 20.77%) in Margarida and Hass cultivars, respectively. While, Silva (2011) reported an average weight of (600/ 600/ 200g) for fruits of the Margarida, Breda and Hass cultivars, respectively, which were collected in 2008/2009 and 2009/2010 in August, September from the municipality of Carmo da Cachoeira in the state of Minas Gerais, Brazil. And an average pulp, seed, and peel yield of (72.8/ 69.1/ 59.9%), (15.5/ 17.5/ 25.5%), and (10.5/ 12.6/ 16.7%) in (Margarida, Breda and Hass) cultivar fruits, respectively.

Espinosa-Alonso et al. (2017) studied Six different Mexican genotypes creole avocado (*Persea americana var. drymifolia*) fruits which were collected in July, 2007 from different orchards in Uruapan, Tacambaro, Tancitaro (Michoacan state), Irapuato, and Guanajuato, Mexico. They reported Fresh Hass avocado comprised 74.83 \pm 3.52% pulp, 13.06 \pm 2.19% seed, and 12.72 \pm 1.58% skin based on total fresh avocado weight. The pulp proportion was higher than the 68% of total fresh weight of a ripe Hass avocado grown in New Zealand (Wong et al., 2011). Dry matter content of pulp ranged between 28 and 36% indicating that the fruits were mature; dry matter >21% (in California) and >25% in other countries are considered physiological indicator of fruit maturity (Knight et al., 2002; Pak et al., 2003; Arpaia et al., 2001; Ozdemir and Topuz. 2004). Similar dry matter content has previously been reported for Hass (Hofman et al., 2000; Villa-Rodr_1guez et al., 2011).

Table 14 shows that the dry matter and the oil content of all cultivars (Hass, Breda and Margarida) of pulp fruits increased from June to September. The dry matter content of pulp increased from (32.93% to 36.24%, from 23.81% to 31.37%, and from 18% to 23%) in rate of (10.1%/ 31.75%/ 27.78%) from June to September in Hass, Breda and Margarida cultivars, respectively. Moreover, the oil amount of fresh pulp similarly increased in the Hass, Breda and Margarida fruits from June to September from (22.38% to 26.04%, from 11.8% to 23.9%, and from 8.04% to 14.37%) in rate of (16.35%/ 102.54%/ 78.73%), respectively. Gaydou et al. (1987) reported that the moisture content of avocado mesocarp decreased steadily with increasing lipid content during the 12–39 weeks after flowering. Ozdemir and Topuz (2004) reported increase in the dry matter contents of Fuerte and Hass cultivars at rate of (25.1/ 43.6%) from November to January,

respectively. The oil content increased from November to January at the rates of 23.74% and 77.5% in Fuerte and Hass, respectively. Dry matter and oil content shows variations due to cultivars and harvesting time, which produce moisture losses. Jorge (2014)reported an average of oil content in fresh pulp (8.42%/ 19.71%) and the dry matter (17.01%/ 30.19%) of Margarida and Hass cultivars, respectively. Wear and Silva (2011) reported an average of oil content in fresh pulp (20.9% /12.2%/ 11.9%) and dry matter (38.69%/ 22.43%/ 19.1%) of Hass, Breda, and Margarida cultivars, respectively.

Oil content of avocado pulp varied significantly (p<0.0001) among Mexican genotypes and higher than those of Hass. Moreover, Uruapan avocado had significantly lower pulp oil content compared to those grown in other locations. For Tancitaro, the bigger size (BTancitaro) had significantly higher pulp dry matter and oil contents than those from the small fruit (STancitaro). Oil content increased linearly with dry matter content (Y= 0.9776x - 9.3722; r²=0.8568) consistent with earlier reports of significant correlation between oil content increase and fruit maturity (Paull and Duarte, 2012). This confirms that avocado pulp from Mexican genotypes contain higher oil content than those from Guatemalan, West Indian or their hybrids Varieties (Zafar et al., 2010).

parameter	Cultivar		Harvesting Time			
		June	July	August	September	Mean
Weight (g)	Hass	260.0±20.0b/C	338.3±16.1a/C	218.3±83.9b/C	275.0±43.01b/C	272.9±34.5b/0
	Breda	410.8±70b/B	661.7±107.28a/B	721.7±68.98a/B	715.7±22.95a/B	627.5±60.9a/E
	Margarida	802.5±150a/A	1068.3±32.53a/A	1078.2±132.69a/A	980.5±110.07a/A	982.4±95.3a/A
Pulp (%)	Hass	66.4±2.5a/B	68.9±1.9a/C	67.5±5.5a/C	71.6±2.39a/C	68.6±2.5a/B
	Breda	62.9±1.23b/C	75.2±1.34a/B	71.2±5.92a/B	74.4±1.07a/B	70.9±2.1a/B
	Margarida	83.1±1.75b/A	84.8±1.92a/A	84.9±2.01a/A	81.4±2.03b/A	83.6±1.3b/A
Seed (%)	Hass	20.5±0.9a/B	18.8±1.6a/A	19.9±5.9a/A	18.1±2.21ª/A	19.3±2.6a/B
	Breda	28.8±1.2a/A	16.7±1.97c/B	21.1±3.83b/A	19.8±1.08b/A	21.6±1.5b/A
	Margarida	9.4±1.45b/C	8.5±1.36b/C	8.6±1.94b/B	11.5±1.53ª/B	9.5±1.2b/C
Peel (%)	Hass	13.1±0.8a/A	12.3±2.1a/A	12.6±1.4a/A	10.3±1.31b/A	12.1±0.63a/A
	Breda	8.3±0.99a/B	8.1±1.47a/B	7.7±3.06a/B	5.8±0.19b/C	7.5±0.91a/B
	Margarida	7.5±1.1a/C	6.7±0.61b/C	6.50±0.37b/B	7.1±0.54a/B	7.0±0.53a/B
Pulp dry	Hass	32.93±0.41b/A	33.3±0.62b/A	34.1±0.81a/A	36.24±1.51a/A	34.1±0.35a/A
matter (%)	Breda	23.81±0.45c/B	24.63±0.56b/B	31±2.08a/B	31.37±0.78a/B	27.7±0.62d/B
	Margarida	18.0±0.32d/C	19.09±0.61c/C	20.29±0.3b/C	23.0±0.59a/C	20.1±0.21b/C
Pulp oil	Hass	22.38±0.41c/A	25±0.11b/A	25.6±0.13a/A	26.04±0.19a/A	24.8±0.15b/A
content	Breda	11.8±0.35d/B	18.23±0.22c/B	22.11±0.26b/B	23.9±1.03a/B	19.0±0.43c/B
(FW) (%)	Margarida	8.04±0.82d/C	12.74±1.19c/C	13.15±0.35b/C	14.37±0.74a/C	12.1±0.65c/C
Pulp oil	Hass	67.96±1.65c/A	75.1±0.82a/A	75.1±0.93a/A	71.85±1.5b/B	72.5±0.71b/A
content	Breda	49.56±0.98d/B	74.0±0.76b/B	71.32±1.2c/B	76.19±0.88a/A	67.8±0.73e/B
(DW) (%)	Margarida	44.67±0.69d/C	66.74±0.89a/C	64.81±1.08b/C	62.48±0.87c/C	59.7±0.67e/C

Table 14 Values (mean + standard deviation) of fruit parameters from 'Hass' 'Brada' and 'Margarida' Brazilian avocado cultivars during different

Major fatty acids of all samples at different ripening stages were presented in Table 15. About 6 FAMEs were identified in the samples. Oleic, palimitic, linoleic and Palmitoleic acids were found to be major fatty acids in all cultivars during ripening stages of which Oleic acid was the highest. Other researchers (Brasil, 1971; Bora et al., 2001; Frega et al., 1990; Gorge, 2014; Martinez Nieto et al., 1988; Medina, 1980; Moreno et al., 2003; Ratovohery et al., 1988; Salgado et al., 2008; Tango et al., 1972, 2004; Villa-Rodríguez et al., 2011; Dreher & Davenport, 2013) have also reported oleic acid as the major fatty acid, followed by palmitic, linolenic, and palmitoleic acids in the pulp of Collinson, Barker, Fortuna, Lula, Bacon, Fuerte, Zutano, Hass, and Margarida cultivars of avocado fruit.

The content of oleic acid as the most important fatty acid in avocado oil varies among different cultivars during ripening stages. The highest amount of oleic acid in all stages of ripening was found for Breda cultivar followed by Margarida and Hass cultivars. Among all of the oil samples oleic acid content were more stable only in Breda cultivar, while it decreased in Margarida and Hass cultivars during ripening stages. In contrast of Palmitoleic acid; The highest amount in all stages of ripening was found for Hass cultivar followed by Breda and Margarida cultivars, which did not agree with the previous study (Ozdemir and Topuz, 2004). The results revealed that the content of palimitic acid as another important fatty acid in avocado oil was decreased at the end of the ripening stage for Breda and Margarida cultivars which were in agreement with (Ozdemir and Topuz, 2004). The highest

amount of Palimitic acid in the all stages of ripening was found for Margaridacultivar followed by Hass and Breda cultivars. Linoleic acid content of all samples increased at the end of ripening stage. An inverse relationship was found between the amounts of oleic and linoleic acids in Hass and Margarida cultivars. Gecgel *et al.* (2007) and Zaringhalami *et al.* (2011, 2015), also reported that the lowest content of oleic acid was found in the highest content of linoleic acid in safflower and tea seed oils, respectively.

Table 15. Fatty acid composition (percent) of pulp oils extracted from three different cultivars of Brazilian avocado									
fruit during ripening stages.									
Fatty acids	Cultivars			ripening stages					
		June	July	August	September	mean			
C16:0	Hass	21.18±0.33b/B	21.37±0.23b/B	21.51±0.12b/B	21.84±0.25a/B	21.48±0.13b/B			
Palimitic	Breda	20.95±0.05a/B	20.43±0.03b/C	17.94±0.01d/C	18.04±0.06c/C	19.34±0.03e/C			
acid	Margarida	24.64±0.08a/A	24.7±0.05a/A	23.86±0.07b/A	22.56±0.09c/A	23.94±0.05b/A			
C16:1	Hass	12.83±0.07b/A	12.86±0.09b/A	14.80±0.10a/A	12.32±0.08c/A	13.20±0.06d/A			
Palmitoleic	Breda	4.96±0.01d/B	5.63±0.04b/B	6.55±0.02a/B	5.16±0.02c/B	5.58±0.03b/B			
acid	Margarida	3.43±0.05c/C	3.55±0.02b/C	3.9±0.02a/C	3.1±0.01d/C	3.50±0.03b/C			
C18:0	Hass	-	-	0.54±0.01a/A	-	0.14±0.01			
Stearic acid	Breda	-	-	-	-	-			
	Margarida	-	-	-		-			
C18:1	Hass	54.01±0.45a/C	53.22±0.33b/C	52.69±0.23c/C	51.38±0.21d/C	52.83±0.31c/C			
Oleic acid	Breda	64.68±0.31d/A	65.27±0.28c/A	65.93±0.25a/A	65.55±0.31b/A	65.36±0.22c/A			
	Margarida	59.29±0.23a/B	59.16±0.21a/B	57.18±0.23b/B	55.2±0.28c/B	57.71±0.13d/B			
C18:2	Hass	11.98±0.04b/A	11.86±0.02b/B	10.19±0.07c/B	14.49±0.04a/B	12.13±0.02b/B			
Linoleic acid	Breda	9.41±0.05b/B	8.29±0.03c/C	9.37±0.02b/C	10.55±0.04a/C	9.41±0.04b/C			
	Margarida	11.86±0.03d/A	12.59±0.01c/A	14.58±0.02b/A	17.79±0.05a/A	14.21±0.02e/A			
C18:3	Hass	-	0.69±0.02a/A	0.27±0.01b/A	-	0.24±0.01b/C			
Linolenic	Breda	-	0.38±0.01b/B	0.21±0.01c/B	0.7±0.04a/B	0.32±0.01d/B			
acid	Margarida	0.78±0.02b	-	0.48±0.01c	1.35±0.03a/A	0.65±0.01d/A			
ND- Not Identifie	d								

ND- Not Identified Each value in the table represents the mean \pm standard deviation. Different uppercase and lowercase indicate significant statistical differences (p<0.05) between and within cultivars during ripening stages, respectively, according to the Tukey test.

The total values of saturated fatty acids (SFAs), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs), polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), and unsaturated fatty acids (UFAs) in addition to the MUFAs/SFAs, PUFAs/SFAs, MUFA/PUFA and UFAs/SFAs ratios are presented in table 16.

The monounsaturated fatty acids comprise the largest group in studied avocado oils; the highest mean value of 70.93% achieved in Breda, then 66.03% in Hass which is the principal avocado cultivar grown and accepted by consumers worldwide. While the lowest value in Margarida cultivar was 61.2%.

The pulp oil quality of Breda, Hass and Margarida cultivars studied was found to be better since the SFA values in these pulp oils were 19.34, 21.61, and 23.94% of the total fatty acids, respectively, as well Fortuna and Collinson cultivars were 22.3 and 29.4%, respectively, which reported by Galvão et al, (2014). When compared with the pulp oil of Barker cultivar, which had higher SFA content, 41.3% of the total fatty acids. The highest mean value of Polyunsaturated acids was in Margarida 14.86%, then 12.37% in Hass, while the lowest value 9.73% was achieved in Breda.

Wood et al. (2003) reported the importance of high ratio of PUFA/SFA to reduce cardiovascular diseases, and they recommended a minimum value of 0.4. Thus, higher values of this index in almost all oils extracted from the pulp of the avocado three cultivars, except for that of the pulp oil of the Collinson cultivar, show the high quality of the oils of the Barker, Collinson, and Fortuna cultivars. The ratio MUFA/PUFA has great importance because of the effects on nutritional properties and oxidative stability of olive oil as in avocado oil. MUFA/PUFA and UFA/SFA show the ratios of monounsaturated to polyunsaturated fatty acids and unsaturated to saturated fatty acids, respectively. High value of these ratios which indicating high level of Oleic, Palmitoleic acids and low levels of Linoleic, Linolenic, Palmitic or Steraric acids resulted in high stability and nutritional value of oil obtained (Beltran *et al.*, 2004; Desouky *et al.*, 2009; Diraman and Dibeklioglu, 2009). The results revealed that these ratios are related to cultivar and ripening stages of the avocado fruit. In addition, these ratios decreased in last stage of all cultivars.

Table 16.	Saturated (SFAs), Mono extracted	ounsaturated (MUFAs) from three different cul	, Polyunsaturated (PUI tivars of Brazilian avor	FAs), Unsaturated Fa ado fruit during riper	atty Acids (UFAs) profi ning stages.	le in pulp oils
			Harvesting Time		1	
Cultivar	Fatty acids	June	July	August	September	Mean
s	SFAs	21.18	21.37	22.05	21.84	21.61
	MUFAs	66.84	66.08	67.49	63.7	66.03
	PUFAs	11.98	12.55	10.46	14.49	12.37
	UFAs	78.82	78.63	77.95	78.19	78.40
На	MUFAs/SFAs	3.16	3.09	3.06	2.92	3.06
	PUFAs/SFAs	0.57	0.59	0.47	0.66	0.57
	MUFAs/PUFAs	5.58	5.27	6.45	4.40	5.34
	UFAs/SFAs	3.72	3.68	3.54	3.58	3.63
Breda	SFAs	20.95	20.43	17.94	18.04	19.34
	MUFAs	69.64	70.9	72.48	70.71	70.93
	PUFAs	9.41	8.67	9.58	11.25	9.73
	UFAs	79.05	79.57	82.06	81.96	80.66
	MUFAs/SFAs	3.32	3.47	4.04	3.92	3.69
	PUFAs/SFAs	0.45	0.42	0.53	0.62	0.51
	MUFAs/PUFAs	7.40	8.18	7.57	6.29	7.29
	UFAs/SFAs	3.77	3.89	4.57	4.54	4.20
	SFAs	24.64	24.7	23.86	22.56	23.94
	MUFAs	62.72	62.71	61.08	58.3	61.20
Margarida	PUFAs	12.64	12.59	15.06	19.14	14.86
	UFAs	75.36	75.30	76.14	77.44	76.06
	MUFAs/SFAs	2.55	2.54	2.56	2.58	2.56
	PUFAs/SFAs	0.51	0.51	0.63	0.85	0.63
	MUFAs/PUFAs	4.96	4.98	4.06	3.05	4.12
	UFAs/SFAs	3.06	3.05	3.19	3.43	3.18
SFAs: Satura MUFAs: Mo	UFAs/SFAs ated fatty acids (C16:0 nounsaturated fatty ac	3.06 ; C18:0) cids (C16:1; C18:1)	3.05	3.19	3.43	3.18

PUFAs: Polyunsaturated fatty acids (C18:2; C18:3)

8.4. CONCLUSIONS

The current research provide information about the physical composition of three cultivars of the Brazilian avocado fruits. As well as the dry matter and the oil content of pulp, and fatty acid composition of that extracted oil, and how they are influenced by ripening stage. Oil content and dry matter differ according to cultivar and ripening stage. The dry matter and oil content were significantly different (p<0.05) for all cultivars. The highest value for oil content was observed in Hass followed by Breda. The highest percentage of pulp were noticed in Margarida. the highest fruit yield (tone per hectare) were found in Margarida followed by Breda. All selected cultivars are optimal to extract oil because of the high percentage of oil in the pulp, high percentage of pulp in fruits and high yield of fruits. This study shows that Oleic, palimitic, linoleic and Palmitoleic acids were major fatty acids in all ripening stages for all cultivars of which Oleic acid was the highest. Oil content in pulp was lower in June and higher in September for all three cultivars. This concludes that the optimal harvesting time is by waiting until the pulp's oil content increases as described previously. The harvesting time should be achieved from the middle of July in order to obtain the maximum oil yield.

8.5. REFERENCES

Agrianual (2016): Anuário da Agricultura Brasileira. São Paulo: FNP Consultoria e AgroInformativos, p. 496.

Arpaia, M. L., Boreham, D., and Hofshi, R. (2001). California Avocado Society Yearbook, 85, 153–178.

Arpaia, M., Jacman, C.R., Woolf, A., White, A., Thompson, J.F., and Slaughter, D.S. (2006). Avcoado Postharvest Quality. Proc. California Avocado Research.

Beltran, G., del Rio, C., Nchez, S. and Martianez, L. 2004. Influence of harvest date and crop yield on the fatty acid composition of virgin olive oils from Cv. Picual. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 52: 3434–3440.

Bora, P. S., Narain, N., Rocha, R. V. M., and Paulo, M. Q. (2001). Characterization of the oils from the pulp and seeds of avocado (cultivar Fuerte) fruits. *Grasas y Aceites*, 52(3-4), 171-174.

Brasil. Ministério do Interior. (1971). *Contribuição ao desenvolvimento da agroindústria: abacate, mamona*. Rio de Janeiro: Grupo Executivo de Irrigação para o Desenvolvimento Agrícola/Fundação Centro Tropical de Pesquisa e Tecnologia de Alimentos. 47 p. v. 3.

Desoukv I M Haggag I. F Abd El-Migeed M M M and El-Hadv E S 2009 Changes in some physical and chemical properties of fruit and oil in some olive oil cultivars during harvesting stage. World Journal of Agricultural Sciences 5: 760–765.

Dias, L. S., Menis, M. E. C., Jorge, N.(2015). Effect of rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis) extracts on the oxidative stability and sensory acceptability of soybean oil. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture. 95(10):p.2021-2027.

Diraman, H. and Dibeklioglu, H. 2009. Characterization of Turkish virgin olive oils produced from early harvest olives. Journal of American Oil Chemist Society 86: 663–674.

DONADIO, L. C. (1987). Present status of Brazilian avocado industry. In: Word Avocado Congress, 1.; 1987, South Africa. Proceedings. SAAGA: Yearbook, 1987. v.10, p. 82-85.

DONADIO, L. C. (1995). Abacate para exportação: aspectos técnicos da produção. 2a. ed. Publicações técnicas FRUPEX, n ° 2. Ministério da Agricultura, do Abastecimento e da Reforma Agrária, Secretaria de Desenvolvimento Rural, Programa de Apoio à Produção e Exportação de Frutas, Hortaliças, Flores e Plantas Ornamentais. Brasília. EMBRAPA – SPI, 1995. 53p. Dreher, M. L., and Davenport, A. J. (2013). Hass avocado composition and potential health effects. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 53(7), 738-750.

Espinosa-Alonso, L.G., Lopez, O.P., Maribel Valdez-Morales, M.V., and Oomah., B.D. (2017). Avocado oil characteristics of Mexican creole genotypes. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. P4,5.

Frega, N., Bocci, F., Lerker, G., and Bortolomeazzi, R. (1990). Lipid composition of some avocado cultivars. *Italian Journal of Food Science*, *2*(3), 197-204.

Galvão, M.S., Narain, N., and Nigam, N. (2014). Influence of different cultivars on oil quality and chemical characteristics of avocado fruit. Food sci. Technol (campinas) vol.34 no.3. P4.

Gaydou, E. M., Lozano, Y., & Ratovohery, J. (1987). Triglyceride and fatty acid compositions in the mesocarp of Persea americana during fruit development. Phytochemistry, 26(6), 1595–1597.

Gecgel, U., Demirici, M., Esendal, E. and Tasan, M. (2007). Fatty acid composition of the oil from developing seeds of different varieties of safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.). Journal of American Oil Chemist Society 84:47–54.

Hofman, P. J., Jobin-D_ecor, M., and Giles, J. (2000). Percentage of dry matter and oil content are not reliable indicators of fruit maturity or quality in lateharvested Hass' avocado. Hort. Sci, 35, 694–695.

IOC. (2001). Preparation of the fatty acid methyl esters from olive oil and olive-pomace oil (International Olive Council), COI/T.20/Doc n24/ 2001.

Jorge, T.S. (2014). avaliação reológica do óleo de abacate (persea americana mill) e estudo da estabilidade sob condições de aquecimento e armazenamento à temperatura ambiente São José do Rio Preto.P26,36.

Knight, R. J., In: Wiley, A. W., Schaffer, B., Wolstenholme, B. N. (Eds.).(2002). The Avocado, Botany, Production and Uses, 1st. Edn. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.

Koller, O. C. (1992). Abacaticultura. Porto Alegre: UFRGS, p. 138.

Lucchesi, A.A., and Montenegro, H.W.S. (1975) Determinação prática do teor de óleo na polpa do abate (Persea americana Miller) através da correlação com o teor de água. Anais da Escola Superior de Agricultura "Luiz de Queiroz", Piracicaba, v. 32, p. 339-352.

Maranca, G. (1980). Fruticultura comercial manga e abacate. São Paulo: Nobel.

Martinez Nieto, L., Camacho, R. F., Rodriguez, V. S., and Moreno, R. M. V. (1988). Extraction and characterization of avocado oil. *Grasas y Aceites*, *39*, 272-277.

Medina, J. C. (1980). Alguns aspectos tecnológicos das frutas tropicais e seus produtos (Série Frutas Tropicais, Vol. 10). Campinas: ITAL.p. 296.

Moreno, A. O., Dorantes, L., Galíndez, J., and Gúzman, R. I. (2003). Effect of different extraction methods on fatty acids, volatile compounds, and physical and chemical properties of avocado (*Persea americana Mill.*) oil. *Jounal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51(8), 2216-2221.

Ozdemir, F. and Topuz, A. (2004). Changes in dry matter, oil content and fatty acids composition of avocado during harvesting time and post harvesting ripening period. Food Chemistry 86: 79–83.

Pak, H. A., Dixon, J., Cutting, J. G. M. (2003). Influence of earl season maturity on fruit quality in New Zealand 'Hass' avocados. In Proceedings V. World Avocado Congress (Actas V Congreso Mundial del Aguacate), 635–640.

PIRES, M. C.; YAMANISHI, O. K. Girdling Combined With Paclobutrazol Boosted Yield of "Bengal" Lychee in Brazil. Acta Horticulturae, p. 189-195, 2014.

Paull,R.E and Duarte,O. (2012). Tropical Fruits: Crop Production Science in Horticulture 24, (Vol. 1), CABI, Oxfordshire/Cambridge.

Ramos, D. P.; Sampaio, A. C. (2008). Principais variedades de abacateiros. In: LEONEL, S.; SAMPAIO, A. C. Abacate: Aspectos Técnicos da Produção. São Paulo: Universidade Estadual Paulista: Cultura Acadêmica Editora, 2008. p. 37-64.

Ratovohery, J. V., Lozano, Y. F., and Gaydou, E. M. (1988). Fruit development effect on fatty acid composition of *Persea americana* fruit mesocarp. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 36(2), 287-293.

Rodríguez-Carpena., J. G., Morcuende, D., and Estévez, M. (2012). Avocado, sunflower and olive oils as replacers of pork back-fat in burger patties: Effect on lipid composition, oxidative stability and quality traits. Meat Science. 90(1):p. 106-115.

Salgado, J. M., Danieli, F., Regitano-D'Arce, M. A. B., Frias, A., and Mansi, D. N. (2008). O óleo de abacate (*Persea americana* Mill) como matéria-prima para a indústria alimentícia. *Ciência e Tecnologia de Alimentos*, 28(Supl.), 20-26.

Schaffer, B. A., Wolstenholme, B. N., and Whiley, A. W. (2013). The Avocado: Botany, Production and Uses. CABI, P.540.

Silva, F.O.R. (2011). Fenologia e caracterização físico-química de abacateiros em

Carmo da Cachoeira-MG / Lavras : UFLA, P31,44,47.

Tango, J. S., and Turatti., J. M. (1992). Óleo de abacate. In: TEIXEIRA, C.G. et al. Abacate: cultura, matéria-prima, processamento e aspectos econômicos.Campinas: ITAL.

Tango, J. S., Carvalho, C. R. L., and Soares, N. B. (2004). Caracterização física e química de frutos de abacate visando a seu potencial para extração de óleo. *Revista Brasileira de Fruticultura*, 26(1), 17-23.

Tango, J. S., Costa, S. I., Antunes, A. J., and Figueiredo, I. B. (1972). Composition of fruit oil of different varieties of avocado grow in São Paulo. *Fruits*, 27(2), 143-146.

Villa-Rodríguez, J. A., Molina-Corral, F. J., Ayala-Zavala, J. F., Olivas, G. I., and González-Aguilar, G. A. (2011). Effect of maturity stage on the content of fatty acids and antioxidant activity of 'Hass' avocado. *Food Research International*, 44(5), 1231-1237.

Wong, M., Ashton, O. B. O., Mcghie, T. K., and Requejo- Jackman, C. (2011). Influence of proportion of skin present during malaxing on pigment composition of cold pressed avocado oil. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc, 88, 1373–1378.

Wood, J. D., Richardson, G. R., & Fisher, A. V. (2003). Effects of fatty acids on meat quality: a review. *Meat Science*, 66(1), 21-32.

Yang, B. and Kallio, H. (2004). Effects of harvesting time on triacylglycerols and glycerophospholipids of sea buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L.) berries of different origins. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 15: 143–157.

Zafar, T., Sidhu, J. S., in: Sinha, N. K. (Ed.) .(2010). Handbook of Vegetables and Vegetable Processing, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK.

Zaringhalami, S., Ebrahimi, M., Piravi Vanak, Z. and Ganjloo, A. (2015). Effects of cultivar and ripening stage of Iranian olive fruit on bioactive compounds and antioxidant activity of its virgin oil. International Food Research Journal. P.3.

Zaringhalami, S., Sahari, M. A., Barzegar, M. and Hamidi, Z. (2011). Changes in oil content, chemical properties, fatty acid composition and triacylglycerol species of tea seed oil during maturity period. Journal of Food Biochemistry 35: 1161–1169.